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Board of Directors Xy

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) BN ELE(ERE)

Mr. HSU You Yuan ML

Mr. TAN Xin BELAE

Mr. WANG Chunwei FEEEE

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert EoKREEL

Ms. FU Shuangye MRELL

Dr. LIN Wen (retired with effect from 29 June 2015) MXBE(BZE—HF A+ N B-EERME)
Mr. ZHANG Chun RIGHEE

Company Secretary NRIME

Mr. Yeung Wai On (resigned with effect from 18 May 2015) BEZREE(B-Z—HFHAT/\AEEFT)
Mr. Yuen Kin Shan (appointed with effect from 18 May 2015) RBELEE(BEZE-RFAE A+ N\ BREET)
Audit Committee EREEE

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) EoxEBFL(EF)

Ms. Fu Shuangye RRELL

Dr. Lin Wen (retired with effect from 29 June 2015) MXBEL(BEZZE—ABFRAZTAAREE)
Mr. Zhang Chun RAELELE

Remuneration Committee FMEES

Ms. Fu Shuangye (Chairman) HREZL(EE)

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEBL

Dr. Lin Wen (retired with effect from 29 June 2015) MXBL(BEZE—RFERAZ+ABRERL)
Mr. Zhang Chun RIERE

Mr. Tan Wenhua ENERE

Nomination Committee REZEES

Mr. Zhang Chun (Chairman) RABELE (EFE)

Dr. Lin Wen (retired with effect from 29 June 2015) MXBE(BZZE—HF A+ N B-EME)
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert EoxiEE L

Ms. Fu Shuangye REELL

Mr. Hsu You Yuan R

Auditor BB R

Ernst & Young 2 SRS

2 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED & X 8EIRIZRR B R A =



Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China
Bank of Jinzhou

Bank SinoPac

China Development Bank
China Construction Bank
Entie Commercial Bank
Taiwan Cooperative Bank
China Merchants Bank

Registered Office

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
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Company Profile
NG

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757, Taiwan stock
code: 9157.TT) is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream
vertically integrated solar energy services. Its products are not only sold
to customers in the upstream and mid-stream industries, but also directly
to end users. Therefore, the Company has external sales, such as the
manufacture and sales of monocrystalline silicon ingots and wafers,
photovoltaic cells and photovoltaic modules; the development, design,
construction, operation and maintenance of photovoltaic systems as well
as photovoltaic power plants themselves.

During the year, the Group was mainly engaged in four main businesses:

(@ the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing services
for monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers;

(b)  the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar cells;
(c) the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules; and
(d) the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants.

Currently, our integrated business model includes monocrystalline
silicon solar ingot production with annual capacity of approximately
1.2GW, solar wafer production with annual capacity of approximately
900MW, as well as photovoltaic cells production with annual capacity of
approximately 330MW. Through one of its many strategic partnerships,
during the year, the Group has established subsidiary with Motech Solar
Group, a specialist solar cell manufacturer. 400MW photovoltaic modules
manufacturing capacity has reached full production in March 2016. In
addition, the Group has another 200MW set to commence production in
April 2016. The Group’s total annual production volume of photovoltaic
modules will then reach 1.2GW (31 December 2014: 600MW).

Through vertical integration and strategic partnerships, the Group
actively expanded the business of end-user market apart from its efforts
in stabilizing its upstream and midstream business development, direct
contact with end-users, thereby driving demand for products from
downstream to upstream, covering the entire industry chain of the
photovoltaic sector.
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Financial Highlights

B 7% =

Five-Year Financial Summary T FHBEHRE
RMB’000 AR®ETT
2011 2012 2013
—E——-F —E--F —E-=F
(restated
in 2012)
(R=F—=F
=)
Revenue A 2,574,669 996,836 2,150,328 2,864,699 2,899,550
Gross profit/(loss) EF/(£8) 253,848 (291,384) 149,993 363,917 242,538
Profit/(loss) from operations & F8,/ (&548) 106,137 (503,720 (39,704) 171,085 152,548
Profit/(loss) attributable to R IR SR PEAG
equity shareholders A8,/ (EE) 54,291 (1,276,554) (135,504) (63,846) 15,653
Basic earnings/(loss) BREARH,(FE)
per share (RMB cents) (AR®5) 2.43 (55.99) (4.57) (1.99) 0.49
Non-current assets FRBEE 3,401,078 2,464,627 2,636,556 2,482 521 2,158,228
Current assets REEE 1,647,607 1,480,031 1,603,618 1,798,519 2,554,539
Current liabilities REEE 1,352,354 1,865,083 2,176,101 2,477,881 2,949,853
Non-current liabilities E = 1,428,435 1,028,345 825,277 627,141 600,051
Net assets BEEFE 2,272,896 1,051,230 1,238,796 1,176,018 1,162,863
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRETE

Dear honourable shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (“Solargiga” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries referred to
as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

B EWMAIIRR ¢
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TAN Wenhua,
Executive Director and Chairman
EXE POIESRERE

2015 marked another record-breaking year. External shipment volume
grew by 13.2% from 1,016.4MW to 1,151.0MW with revenue at
RMB2,899.550 million. Operating profit amounted to RMB152.548
million. During the year, the Group achieved a turnaround from previous
losses under the improving environment in the global photovoltaic industry
and the frequent launches of favourable policies by the PRC government.

While maintaining its own leading technological advantage in
monocrystalline products, and adhering to the vertical integration strategy,
through establishing strategic partnerships, the Group and its partners
will be able to leverage on their respective strengths and experiences in
laying a solid foundation for broader co-operation in the future. One of the
most significant was the establishment of a 400MW photovoltaic modules
manufacturing plant with Motech Solar Group, itself a specialist solar
cell manufacturer. Adding this to the commissioning of our new 200MW
production line, our total annual production volume of photovoltaic
modules will then reach 1.2GW.

CE-AFEFEX—EARLCEN—F  HIMIESR
11,0164 FRIER13.2%F1,151.0 K » BBARE
2809550 E B UE X K ERNAAANRYEE152.548
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RREMGFEREIEI2ER -
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Chairman’s Statement FfEEE

Monocrystalline products are becoming the popular choice in solar
projects and the market share of mono-crystalline products is improving
in the current market. The proportion of solar plants installing mono-
crystalline PV systems has increased as a result. Under its vertically-
integrated strategy, management has put in place measures to exploit
comparative strengths of the Group to further develop the downstream
solar market through direct contacts with grid companies, electricity users
or solar plant installation contractors and the management is of the view
that the Group is well-positioned to capture the growth in the market.

Looking to the future, 2016 is the first year of the Thirteenth Five-Year
Plan of China, the National Energy Bureau of China targeted its cumulative
grid connection installation capacity of photovoltaic power generation to
150GW by 2020, with photovoltaic power plants accounting for 70GW
and distributed power plants accounting for 80GW. With the national
policy setting the pace in the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of China and Top
Runner Project (8 & 5t 2), complemented by more matured financing
options and stable financial models, annual targets of 20GW are expected
to be met with ease. As mentioned above, through expanding its module
production capacity and rigorous efforts in developing new customers in
PRC without compromising the Group’s overseas shipment volume and
sales, the proportion of local to overseas sales is expected to improve
from its current 35:65 ratio to a more sustainable ratio of 50:50.

The Group will continue to maintain its own leading technological
advantage in monocrystalline products, and adhere to the vertical
integration strategy, leveraging on its strengths, as well as building on its
well-established foundations, to maintain its unique position as the leading
solar energy group with a vertically integrated supply chain in China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN WK DN

Market Overview

In 2015, the global solar industry has continued to recover. The growth in
demand for photovoltaic products remained strong during the year. The
continual strong policy support in many countries strengthen the demand
of the market as well. In the meantime, with continuous technological
improvement in the production process, the overall Average Market
Selling Price (“ASP”) of all products maintained a steady downward trend
toward healthier and more sustainable prices.

In 2015, Asia continued to lead the core global solar market. China
maintains its leading position and dominated the demand in the
photovoltaic industry. Based on the data released by the National Energy
Administration of China, as of December 2015, the cumulative grid
connection installation capacity of photovoltaic power generation in China
was 43.18GW (2014: 28.05GW), growing by 54% year-on-year, with
photovoltaic power plants accounting for 37.12GW and distributed power
plants accounting for 6.06GW. It achieved its 2015 grid connection
target. The volume of annual photovoltaic power generation grew by
more than 57% year-on-year to approximately 39.2 billion kWh. Newly-
added volume of photovoltaic power generation to grid connection was
15.13GW in China, accounting for over one-fourth of the newly-added
capacity worldwide.

miEHE

TE-RF RRAGRITESEER - XRERNT
REFARAFRDER - ZEBREE LB DBEE
ZETIET THFR o B BEE 4 ERERM TE
BE - EHREMNERFITSEE( THEED &R
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& :28.055F) > RILLIERS4% » R XREIH37.12F
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B RREBREERLEREST% » EEHINETR
B o 2EFISURAKRBEERE15.135 R - (AR IRFE
BERANSZ— o
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 1 & 51 7@ & 2

Market Overview (continued)

2016 is the first year of the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of China, the
National Energy Bureau of China targeted its cumulative grid connection
installation capacity of photovoltaic power generation to 150GW by 2020,
with photovoltaic power plants accounting for 70GW and distributed
power plants accounting for 80GW. With the national policy setting the
pace in the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of China and Top Runner Project (58
#EETEl), complemented by more matured financing options and stable
financial models, annual targets of 20GW are expected to be met with
ease.

Regarding the Japan market, Japan maintained the growth in its market
demand in 2015, which PV installation in 2015 was 12.3GW. Bloomberg
New Energy Finance (“BNEF”) estimated that 2016 will set a new high,
with the annual installation figures in 2016 reaching as high as 14.3 GW.
The Japan Photovoltaic Energy Association (“JPEA”) published a revised
version of “PV Outlook 2030”. The 2020 PV installation target of 49.4GW
has been revised to 65.7GW and the capacity may reach 100GW in
2030.

In respect of USA market, cumulative US solar PV installations have now
topped 25 GW, up from just 2GW in 2010. Based on the GTM research,
the PV installations reached 7.3GW in 2015. Residential solar market was
once again the fastest booming sector, representing 66% growth over
2014. PV installations is expected to grow to 20 GW annually by 2020.
Growth will occur in all segments, but residential market will remain the
driving force behind the overall growth.

SOUARGIGAENERGYANOUBINGSINIMITED] 5
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 1 & 517 & 247

Market Overview (continued)

For emerging markets, a number of emerging solar markets began to fulfil
their potential in 2015 and they are setting up some promising prospects
for 2016. India emerged as an established market with installation of
2GW in 2015. New secondary markets like Bangladesh, Pakistan and
the Philippines will support continued growth in the region. GTM expects
the emerging markets will play a big part in 2016 with India becoming
a reliable multi-gigawatt market and Brazil potentially seeing strong
action at ground level. Meanwhile the Philippines, Pakistan, Bangladesh,
Uruguay, Guatemala and Panama will be moving forward and attempting
to hit 100MW each. According to data from NPD Solarbuzz’s database
tracking MEA projects, the photovoltaic projects in Africa have potential
installation capacity of over 11GW, with Ghana alone has a pool of
photovoltaic projects under application already exceeded 2GW in scale.

Operations Review

The Group is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream vertically
integrated solar energy services in the PRC. We sell our photovoltaic
products to upstream, midstream and end-user customers in photovoltaic
industry. We focus on the vertical integration for monocrystalline products,
providing one-stop solutions for the solar energy industry ranging from
the manufacturing and sales of silicon ingots and wafers, photovoltaic
cells and photovoltaic modules, the installation of photovoltaic system
and the development, design, construction, operation and maintenance
of photovoltaic generation plants. The scope of its business covers the
whole industry chain of photovoltaic industry.

Under the vertical integration strategy, the Group’s current production
chain includes 1.2GW monocrystalline ingot, 900MW wafer, 330MW
cell and 1.0GW module production capacities, and the installation
of photovoltaic system and the development, design, construction,
operation and maintenance of photovoltaic generation plants. The Group
maintained its well-established relationships with its long-term customers
throughout the supply chain, stabilised its comparative advantage in
the upstream and midstream business development, at the same time
actively expanded its downstream businesses and thoroughly adhered to
the strategy of vertical integration of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 J& 57 5@ & 27

Operations Review (continued)

While maintaining its own leading technological advantage in
monocrystalline products, and adhering to the vertical integration strategy,
through establishing strategic partnerships, the Group and its partners
will be able to leverage on their respective strengths and experiences in
laying a solid foundation for broader co-operation in the future. One of the
most significance was the establishment of a company with Motech Solar
Group, a specialist solar cell manufacturer. The company mainly engages
in the manufacturing of photovoltaic modules. 400MW photovoltaic
modules manufacturing capacity has reached full production in March
2016. In addition, the Group has another 200MW set to commence
production in April 2016. The Group’s total annual production volume
of photovoltaic modules will then reach 1.2GW (31 December 2014:
B600MW).

Further, through a subsidiary in Germany, which mainly engaged in PV
system business, the Group has been well set up to develop projects
overseas. Various small to medium scale projects in Germany and
Turkey have been completed in the past. Currently, our overseas pipeline
includes projects in Ghana, Turkey, Pakistan, etc. The Group also
acquired a PRC solar plant construction company in March 2014, to
further expand its presence in EPC and O&M business in the Chinese
market. Various projects of different sizes located in PRC are under
development, while some are under construction.

In addition, the Group continued to operate a 20MW large-scale
photovoltaic power plants project in Golmud, Qinghai Province, operated
under Golmud Solargiga Energy Electric Power Co., Ltd., which is held
as to 70% by the Group through Qinghai Solargiga. This project is in
operation, and approximately 33 million kWh electricity can be generated
per year on average. The project is enjoying the photovoltaic power
generation Feed-In Tariff policy of RMB1.15 per kWh as set out by the
National Development and Reform Commission. Combining German
designing techniques and strategic advantages of self-manufactured PV
modules, the Group has successfully realised its potentials and synergies.

During the year, the Group achieved a turnaround from previous losses
under the improving environment in the global photovoltaic industry and
the frequent launches of favorable policies by the PRC government. 2015
marked another record-breaking year. Comparing 1,016.4MW in 2014,
external shipment volume grew by 13.2% to 1,151.0MW with turnover
at RMB2,899.550 million. Operating profit amounted to RMB152.548
million. Mono-crystalline products are becoming the popular choice
in solar projects and the market share of mono-crystalline products is
improving in the current market. The proportion of solar plants installing
mono-crystalline PV systems has increased as a result.
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Management Discussion and Analysis S IE[E 51 &

Operations Review (continued)

Under its vertically-integrated strategy, management has put in place
measures to exploit comparative strengths of the Group to further
develop the downstream solar market through direct contacts with grid
companies, electricity users or solar plant installation contractors and the
management is of the view that the Group is well-positioned to capture
the growth in the market.

Silicon Ingot Business

The Group’s all-rounded photovoltaic industry chain with its vertically
integrated business model covering both upstream and downstream
businesses allows external sales of its upstream products such as
silicon ingots, wafers and cells which are produced and processed in-
house, apart from being used in its downstream business. To address
the demand of customers and its downstream businesses, the Group
maintained stable capacity for silicon ingots production during the year.
Through technological enhancements, equipment modification, such as
speedy ending, adjustments in the speed of the ingot pulling and spinning
process, number of inputs into the furnace for each batch of ingot, the
Group was able to increase capacity and reduce costs in its production
processes, especially the consumption of electricity.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has an annual production capacity
of 1.2GW for monocrystalline silicon ingots in its production bases in
Jinzhou, Liaoning and Xining, Qinghai. During the year, demand for N-type
products has increased which led to growing market share of N-type
products. This was mainly driven by the higher conversion efficiency,
thereby leading to the sales growth of N-type products. We have secured
a leading position in the monocrystalline silicon solar ingot manufacture
industry in terms of technology, product quality and quantity. Major
products are silicon ingots of 8 inches to 8.7 inches in diameter.

The photovoltaic conversion efficiency of its monocrystalline silicon
products is also higher than the industry average. Apart from the
traditional P-type products, the Group also provides N-type high
performance products with a photovoltaic conversion efficiency of 22%-—
23%. During the year, the external shipment volume of N-type silicon
ingots was approximately 56.2MW, representing approximately 98% of
the total external shipment volume of silicon ingots, targeting primarily the
Japanese market where the requirements on quality standard is stringent.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 @515 & 204

Operations Review (continued)
Wafer Business

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has an annual production capacity
of 900MW of wafers. During the year, the installation of diamond saw
to replace the existing slurry in its slicing technique has partially affected
the Group’s wafer manufacturing capacity. However, the Group still
maintained a high level of utilisation of its wafer manufacturing capacity
and external shipment volume of self-manufacturing and processing of
silicon solar wafers of the Group increased by 14%. This was mainly
driven by the significant growth in the solar energy industry.

Diamond saw is able to improve the consistency and reduce the
thickness of each slice of wafer. After the implementation, the Group is
expected to realise an increase in slicing capacity.

Cell Business

The Group’s production lines of solar cells are located at the
manufacturing base of the Group in Jinzhou, Liaoning. During the year,
the annual production capacity of solar cells was 330MW. Such solar
cells are on the one hand sold internally to provide high-quality raw
materials supply for the downstream module business of the Group, and
also sold externally to the customers in China and Japan. During the year,
the external shipment volume of solar cells was approximately 100.0MW.
Comparing to 110.6MW in the same period last year, it decreased slightly
by 9%. It was mainly due to a higher portion of solar cells being reserved
to the production of modules within the Group, in order to cope with the
increase in module demands.

Module Business

During the year, in view of the rapid growth of demand for solar modules,
and in order to strengthen the market competitiveness of the Group’s
downstream businesses, and consolidate the Group’s strategy of vertical
integration, the Group stroked a strategic alliance with Motech Solar
Group, a specialist solar cell manufacturer and established a company.
The company mainly engages in the manufacturing of photovoltaic
modules. 400MW photovoltaic modules manufacturing capacity has
reached full production in March 2016. In addition, the Group has another
200MW set to commence production in April 2016. The Group’s total
annual production volume of photovoltaic modules will then reach 1.2GW
(81 December 2014: 600MW). Driven by the strong customer demand
for downstream photovoltaic modules, the Group’s competitive edge in
terms of costs effectiveness will be strengthened in relation to the vertical
integration strategy. It will also lay a solid foundation for broader co-
operation in the Group’s future construction and operating of photovoltaic
systems business.
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Operations Review (continued)
Module Business (continued)

Based on the increase in demand by long-term key customers including
Sharp Corporation (“Sharp”) and State Power Investment Corporation
(FEIEREHIREEEQT) (“SPIC”, previously named China Power
Investment Group (“CPI Group”)), the Group recorded significant
increases in external shipment volumes up to 615.5MW, represented a
18.7% increase from 518.4MW in the same period last year.

The volume of external shipment exceeded our photovoltaic module
production capacity. In order to satisfy the strong demand for the
Group’s photovoltaic modules, during the year, the Group has engaged
a processing sub-contractor for the extra production needed. This is a
significant indication of the sentiment of certain segment of the market
during the year, where demand was not catching up with the supply.

In addition, through expanding its module production capacity
and rigorous efforts in developing new customers in PRC without
compromising the Group’s overseas shipment volume and sales, the
proportion of local to overseas sales is expected to improve from its
current 35:65 ratio to a more sustainable ratio of 50:50.

Construction and Operating of Photovoltaic Systems Business

To consolidate its advantages of the business model of vertical
integration, the Group actively expanded the business of end-user market
apart from its efforts in stabilizing its upstream and midstream business
development, thereby driving demand for products from downstream to
upstream.

Through a subsidiary in Germany, which mainly engaged in PV system
business, the Group have been well set up to develop projects overseas.
Various small to medium scale projects in Germany and Turkey have
been completed in the past. Currently, our overseas pipeline includes
projects in Ghana, Turkey, Pakistan, etc. The Group also acquired a
PRC solar plant construction company in March 2014, to further expand
its presence in EPC and O&M business in the Chinese market. Various
projects of different sizes located in PRC are under development, while
some are under construction.

In addition, the Group continued to operate a 20MW large-scale
photovoltaic power plants project in Golmud, Qinghai Province, operated
under Golmud Solargiga Energy Electric Power Co., Ltd., which is held
as to 70% by the Group through Qinghai Solargiga. This project is in
operation, and approximately 33 million kWh electricity can be generated
per year on average. The project will enjoy the photovoltaic power
generation Feed-In Tariff policy of RMB1.15 per kWh as set out by the
National Development and Reform Commission. Combining German
designing techniques and strategic advantages of self-manufactured PV
modules, the Group has successfully realised its potentials and synergies.
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Financial Review
Revenue

2015 marked another record-breaking year with external shipment
of 1,151.10MW and revenue of RMB2,899.550 million, represented
an increase of RMB34.851 million compared with the year ended 31
December 2014. The Group expected demand for its products to remain
strong as the global and especially the Chinese solar energy market
continue to flourish.

Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2015, cost of sales increased by 6.2%
to RMB2,657.012 million from RMB2,500.782 million for the year ended
31 December 2014. Cost of sales represented 91.6% of total revenue.
The increase in cost of sales mainly due to the increase in the external
sales volume.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a gross profit
of RMB242.538 million and a gross profit margin of 8.4%, as compared
to a gross profit of RMB363.917 million and a gross profit margin 12.7%
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Since the second half of 2015, driven by the demand for photovoltaic
modules required by the construction of power plant, demand for solar
cells increased and in turn, solar cell market prices rose. However, module
price was set at the time of the tenders of the power plant construction
and hence did not timely reflect the increase in the market price of the
solar cells. As a result of this time lag, at the time of the production, the
Group could only purchase solar cells at a relatively higher prices. The
gross profit margins was compressed as a result.

However, disregarding the exception mentioned above, the gross
profit margin recorded in 2015 was similar to that in 2014. Further,
the improvement in earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) to revenue ratio rose from 9.0% in 2014 to
11.9%, in 2015 illustrates an improvement in production efficiency.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised freight charges and
marketing and promotional expenses. Selling and distribution expenses
slightly decreased by approximately 2% to RMB28.450 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015 from RMB28.917 million for the year ended 31
December 2014, representing 1% of the total turnover of the Group (2014:
1%). The decrease in selling and distribution expenses was mainly due
to the increase in the PRC sales, where the goods are delivered locally
within the country.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED & X #EIRIZR B R A =)

B 7 B 8

g

BEE 1,151 10 BT EER ARYE2,890.550 8 B

THRA  —E-AFELRR - BAWCEN—F 8=

EZ-—NE+ZA=+—BLEFEELE  KFEEMARE

34.851HETT - AEEFEHEHAMBEETS » FRIZF
B - BEEIERE  FTREBRITES

SHER A

BE-Z-AF+-A=1+—HLLEE HERFTHE
E_E-NEF+_A=+—-HIEFENARY?2500.782
BETEMNEARE2,657.012B88 T » HiEH6.2% &4

ERALEBERTEN1.6% - HERATEMEEZRAR
HIMEERE EAMRE -

ERRERNZER
BE-Z-AFTA=1T—HLFE  FEEHKEA

K242 538 BB TNER » EFNEES8.4% » HHEZE
—E-NE+ZA=1t—HIEFENARKIGIITEE
TTREFERI2.7% °

ME-E-—HEFTHFHE  BHERFHRREMGT
R EMESERNTEERENE  WERHEER

SELE AW ABOACHEERIELAEHE
REBROERTE  HARERERRENHTSER L
HRE LHEE  AEEETUEHRSHER
UL ERRES B o

e

BAKISEEEM -

B EMEAEHR ARAEE - -AFERNREZ
T-MEERRMEE o O BENERBHAFE
HWGEEER T -—NFENL0%ENME=ZS—0AFH
11.9% » RIREERERNBEERA -

HERDIERAX

HER S HHAYTERRAEBEEN T EERREH -
HER S HEAYHEBEE_Z-—NE+=-A=1+—HILEF
EMARE8I7TEER ) THREHZE-Z—HF+=
A=+—HBILEEMARE28.450HETT » MEKHN2% -

IEAREEMAEEENI%(ZE—NF 1 1%) c HERD
HRAX THREIEHNINVNERITEANBEANHEESR

Fri&hn -



Management Discussion and Analysis B2 [E 5150 & 07

Financial Review (continued)
Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs and research and
development expenses. The administrative expenses for the year of 2015
amounted to RMB202.781 million, decreasing by 5.2% as compared to
RMB213.912 million in 2014, representing around 7% of the revenue of
the Group in both years. The decrease in administrative expenses was
mainly due to the successful implementation of cost control measures
after the restructuring of each of the business units during the year.

Further, as a result of the relocation of five different production plants to
one location. It is expected that the administrative expenses to sales ratio
will improve further in the coming years.

Finance costs

Finance costs represented mainly bank loans interest. The finance costs
of the Group decreased from RMB121.361 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to RMB119.984 million for the year ended 31 December
2015. The decrease in finance cost was mainly due to better financial
control on the use of funds during the year.

Income tax

Income tax expense was RMB3.03 million for the year ended 31
December 2015, while an income tax credit amounted to RMB4.83 million
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2014. The income tax
expense was mainly a combined effect of the tax provision made in 2015,
in respect of prior years’ under-provision, and the reversal of unused tax
loss in 2015. Income tax expense recorded for 2015 was attributable to
the taxable profits generated by the solar cell and photovoltaic module
businesses in China.

Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity shareholders

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a profit
attributable to the equity shareholders of RMB15.653 million, an increase
of 124.5% as compared to the loss attributable to the equity shareholders
of RMB63.846 million for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Inventory turnover days

The inventories of the Group comprised mainly raw materials, namely
polysilicon and other auxiliary raw materials, and finished goods. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the inventory turnover days of the
Group were 89 days (2014: 81 days). The Group is putting in enormous
effort toward maintaining a level of lower inventory turnover days. As
the proportion of modules in inventory increases, comparing to the
proportion of polysilicon, after the commissioning of the additional module
manufacturing capacity in 2016, the inventory turnover days is expected
to improve as a result.
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Financial Review (continued)
Trade receivable turnover days

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the trade receivable turnover
days of the Group was 53 days (2014: 40 days). Generally, the Group
allows a longer credit period for photovoltaic module sales. The increase
in trade receivable turnover days was mainly due to an increase in
proportion of photovoltaic module sales near the end of the year.

Trade payable turnover days

As a result of stable business development in an upward market, the
Group has better bargain power for cash collection cycle, payments to
suppliers were extended during the year. Accordingly, trade payable
turnover days during the year increased to 108 days (2014: 89 days).

Liquidity and financial resources

The principal sources of working capital of the Group during the year were
cash flows from bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2015, the current
ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 0.87 (31
December 2014: 0.73). The Group had net borrowings of RMB1,626.869
million as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: RMB1,465.093
million), including cash at banks and on hand of RMB193.953 million
(81 December 2014: RMB195.257 million), pledged bank deposits of
RMB459.171 million (31 December 2014: RMB145.710 million), bank
loans due within one year of RMB1,931.849 million (31 December
2014: RMB1,420.188 million) and non-current bank and other loans of
RMB348.144 million (31 December 2014: RMB385.872 million). Further,
during the year, the Group purchased financial products amounted to
RMB123.942 million (31 December 2014: Nil) from a bank with principal
guaranteed earning floating interests. The net debt to equity ratio (net
debt divided by total equity) was 129.2% (31 December 2014: 124.6%).

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”)

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded an earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization amounted to
RMB344.806 million (11.9% to revenue) which showed solid improvement
from RMB258.244 million (9.0% to revenue) for the ended 31 December
2014.

During the year, the driving force behind the improvement in EBITDA
was mainly due to the continued improvement in the Group’s production
efficiency and its cost control measures as mentioned in the Operations
Review above.
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Financial Review (continued)
Contingent liabilities
Financial guarantees issued

At 31 December 2015, the Group has undertaken to guarantee a bank
loan to an associate to the extent of RMB37,000,000 (31 December
2014: RMB74,000,000). As most of the loan balances are secured by the
fixed assets of the associate, the directors consider fair value of the above
financial guarantee is insignificant.

The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against
the Group under the above guarantee. The maximum liability of the Group
at the end of the reporting period under the above guarantee issued is the
outstanding amount of the loan advanced by the bank to the associate of
RMB37,000,000.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases and cash and bank deposits that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency, Renminbi, of the operations
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
the US Dollar, Euro, Hong Kong Dollar and Japanese yen. The Directors
do not expect any significant impact from the change in exchange rates
since the Group uses foreign currencies received from customers to settle
the amounts due to suppliers. In addition, the Directors ensure that the
net exposure is kept at an acceptable level by purchasing or selling the
US Dollar and Euro at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 3,748 (31 December 2014:
3,641) employees.

Compliance With Environmental Policies, Laws
and Regulations

The Board paid attention to the Group’ s policies and practices on compliance
with environmental policies, legal and regulatory requirements. The Group
would seek professional advice from its external legal advisers and consultants
to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in
compliance with applicable environmental policies, laws and regulations.
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Future Prospects and Strategies

A major document on the photovoltaic industry named “Opinions on
Further Optimizing the Market Conditions for Mergers and Restructuring
for the Photovoltaic Industry” ((EERE — S B X REERHEAT
BIEREMNER)) (the “Opinions”) issued by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of China in late 2014 pointed to the strengthened
financial support for photovoltaic enterprises for their expedited
structural optimization, transformation and upgrade through mergers
and acquisitions, and to the formation of some core enterprises in the
industry with strong international competitiveness by the end of 2017.
The Opinions also encourage closer cooperation among upstream
and downstream enterprises along the industry chain, more enhanced
industry chain structure, and in turn better profitability along the industry
chain. The Opinions will accelerate industrial consolidation, elimination
of obsolete enterprises with low production capacity, and help premium
enterprises with leading technological edges to capture favorable market
shares. Focusing on the development of monocrystalline products,
the Group commands industry-leading technology for the production
of monocrystalline products. It also runs on a unique business model
covering the whole industry chain of the photovoltaic industry, fully
leveraging the synergy among business segments of the Group and
providing the Group with obvious competitive advantage on the market.

2016 is the first year of the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of China. After the
successful implementation of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan of China and the
“Notice relating to the Issuance of the Implementation Plan of Photovoltaic
Power Generation Infrastructure in 2015” (B T ZE2015F KRS
EEEHE 5 R MBH)) published by the National Energy Administration
in March 2015, market confidence was greatly boosted, which created
favorable conditions for photovoltaic growth and development in China.

Under the improving environment in the global photovoltaic industry
and the frequent launches of favorable policies and plans by the PRC
government, the convergence of prices of mono- and multi-crystalline
photovoltaic products has highlighted the advantage of high conversion
ratios of mono-crystalline photovoltaic products. Mono-crystalline
products are becoming the popular choice in solar projects and the
market share of mono-crystalline products is improving in the current
market. The proportion of solar plants installing mono-crystalline PV
systems has increased as a resullt.
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Future Prospects and Strategies (continued)

At the end of 2015, in order to enhance economies of scale and
operational efficiency while minimising the overall operational and
management costs, the Company has implemented an integration and
centralisation strategy to consolidate various production bases across
Jinzhou, Liaoning. Manufacturing plants on five different locations have
been centralized and relocated to one main production location. The
Group has subsequently sold one of the five vacant lands before the
year end date. The proceeds from the sale will be used for general
working capital of the Group and to capture any business and investment
opportunities should suitable opportunity arise in future.

In addition to the existing long-term local key customers State Power
Investment Corporation (PEIEIZRE HIREEE AT (“SPIC”, previously
named China Power Investment Group (“CPI Group”)), through expanding
its module production capacity and rigorous efforts in developing new
customers in PRC, the Group has strengthened its ties with state-owned
enterprises, others of the big-five major power companies and other large
listed companies. Without compromising the Group’s overseas shipment
volume and sales, the proportion of local to overseas sales is expected to
improve from its current 35:65 ratio to a more sustainable ratio of 50:50.

The Group fully grasped the market trend. While maintaining its own
leading technological advantage in monocrystalline products, and
adhering to the vertical integration strategy, through establishing strategic
partnerships, the Group and its partners will be able to leverage on their
respective strengths and experiences in laying a solid foundation for
broader co-operation in the future. One of the most significance was the
establishment of a company with Motech Solar Group, a specialist solar
cell manufacturer. The company mainly engages in the manufacturing
of photovoltaic modules. 400MW photovoltaic modules manufacturing
capacity has reached full production in March 2016. In addition, the
Group has another 200MW set to commence production in April 2016.
The Group’s total annual production volume of photovoltaic modules will
then reach 1.2GW (31 December 2014: 600MW).
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Future Prospects and Strategies (continued)

In future, the Group will adhere to its development strategy of
vertical integration. By fully leveraging its technological advantage
in monocrystalline products and focusing on the development of
monocrystalline products, it will make good use of its vertically-integrated
capacity with both upstream and downstream portions to raise the
gross profit of the Group’s module products and drive profit growth
of the Group. While maintaining its leading position in upstream and
downstream businesses, the Group will active expand its downstream
business of constructing, operating and maintaining photovoltaic power
plants, and foster market development in emerging markets including
Africa, Southeast Asia, Turkey, Pakistan and other Balkan countries
on the basis of its existing market share, with a view to enhancing the
Group’s downstream businesses and raising its overall profitability.

By continually uplifting product quality and refining the structure of its full-
industry chain businesses, the Group will, as always, provide the best
product application development and one-stop services to the customers
along its fully integrated photovoltaic industry chain, and aim at becoming
a globally leading supplier of one-stop services in solar power generation.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRS

Overview

The Board strived to uphold good corporate governance and adopted
sound corporate governance practices. This report outlines the principles
and the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”), as contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which have been adopted by the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial
reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also established a
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, the “Board
Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees have been posted on the websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company since March 2012.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas
such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the
Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management
systems, human resources management systems, internal control
systems, quality assurance and property management systems. In the
opinion of the Board, all the code provisions set out in the Code were met
by the Company throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions entered
into by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the
Directors and all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the financial year
ended 31 December 2015.
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The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring
the performance of the senior management. The Directors have the
responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the Company. The
Directors also assume the following responsibilities for corporate
governance as set out in code provision D3.1 of the Code:

(@ to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’'s compliance with the code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

As at 31 December 2015, the Board comprises seven Directors, including
four executive Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. TAN Xin and Mr. WANG Chunwei (Chief
Financial Officer), and three independent non-executive Directors: Dr.
WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU Shuangye and Mr. ZHANG Chun. The
names and biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 34
to 38 of the annual report. The Board has a strong independent element
in its composition with over half of the board members being non-
executive Directors to ensure that all decisions of the Board are made in
the best interest of the Group’s long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below on
pages 28 to 30.
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Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also be convened
if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board meeting will be
sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notices will be given to the Directors for ad-hoc Board
meetings. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic
means of communications. The Company will provide relevant materials
to all the Directors relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All
the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 13 Board meetings and
2 Shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual

Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Board Shareholders

Name of Directors meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) 13/13 1/2
Mr. HSU You Yuan 13/13 1/2
Mr. TAN Xin 13/13 0/2
Mr. WANG Chunwei 13/13 2/2
Independent non-executive

Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 13/13 0/2
Ms. FU Shuangye 13/13 0/2
Dr. LIN Wen (retired with effect 4/4 0/2

from 29 June 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Chun 13/13 0/2
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Independent non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of professional
and industry expertise and management experience and have provided
their professional advices to the Board. They have played a significant role
in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, they bring impartial
views to the Board on issues of the Company’s strategy, performance
and control. The Board also considers that independent non-executive
Directors provide independent advice on the Company’s business
strategy, results and management so that all interests of shareholders
are taken into consideration, and the interests of the Company and
its shareholders are taken into account in all business decisions. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of Mr. HSU You Yuan and Mr. WANG Chunwei has been
appointed as an executive Director for a specific term of three years
commencing from 27 June 2013, and Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. TAN
Xin has been appointed as an executive Director for a specific term of
three years commencing from 27 June 2014. Such terms are subject
to re-appointment by the Company at an annual general meeting upon
retirement.

Mr. ZHANG Chun has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for a specific term of three years commencing form 26 June
2018, and each of Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU Shuangye
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director for a
specific term of three years commencing from 29 June 2015. Such terms
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. WANG Chunwei and Mr. ZHANG Chun will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible,
and will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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Board Diversity

The Board has a board diversity policy which is available on the
Company’s website. In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives among
members of the Board, it is the policy of the Company to consider a
number of factors when deciding on appointments to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments. Such factors include gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate interests of the
Company’s principal shareholders. The Board considered the Company
has achieved the objective of board diversity during the year.

Training and Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors have been
given relevant guideline materials to ensure that they are apprised of the
latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory requirements in
relation to the Company’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors had provided a record of training they received during the
year to the Company. According to the training records provided by the
Directors, the trainings attended by them during the reporting period is
summarised as follows:

Trainings on corporate
governance and

Directors regulatory development

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) 4
Mr. HSU You Yuan v
Mr. TAN Xin v
Mr. WANG Chunwei 4
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 4
Ms. FU Shuangye 4
Dr. LIN Wen (retired with effect from v

29 June 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Chun v
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual.

However, Mr. TAN Wenhua since 1 October 2015 serves as both the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, such practice deviates from
code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”). Given the extensive
experience of Mr. TAN Wenhua in the solar energy industry, the Board
is of the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests of the
Company for Mr. Tan to hold both positions, following Mr. Hsu You
Yuan’s stepping down from the position of Chief Executive Officer, so as
to maintain the continuity of the policies and the stability of the operations
of the Company. The Company will seek to re-comply with code provision
A.2.1 of the Code by identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified
candidate to the position of Chief Executive Officer as soon as practicable
in order to increase the transparency and independence of corporate
governance of the Group.

Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of and Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
include overseeing the financial reporting processes and internal control
procedures of the Group, reviewing the financial information of the Group
and considering issues relating to the external auditor. Currently, the
Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman), Ms. FU Shuangye and
Mr. ZHANG Chun.

In 2015, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of
individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/

Number of

Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2

Ms. FU Shuangye 2/2

Dr. LIN Wen 11
(retired with effect from 29 June 2015)

Mr. ZHANG Chun 2/2
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Board Committees (continued)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim financial report
for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and has also
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters with
the management. The Audit Committee also monitored the Company’s
progress in implementing the Code as required under the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to Rules
3.25 to 3.27 of and Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s structure for remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. Currently, the
Remuneration Committee consists of four members; three of whom
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. FU Shuangye
(Chairman), Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Mr. ZHANG Chun, and
one is an executive Director, namely, Mr. TAN Wenhua.

In 2015, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. FU Shuangye (Chairman) 1/1
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 11
Dr. LIN Wen 1/1
(retired with effect from 29 June 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Chun 1/1
Executive Director
Mr. TAN Wenhua 1/1

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the Board
regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In addition, it has
also reviewed and approved management’s remuneration proposal
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board,
and ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for nomination procedures and process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship and senior management. Currently, the Nomination
Committee consists of four members; three of whom are independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman), Dr.
WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU Shuangye, and one is an executive
Director, namely, Mr. HSU You Yuan.

In 2015, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) 1/1
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Ms. FU Shuangye 1/1
Dr. LIN Wen 11

(retired with effect from 29 June 2015)
Executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 11

The Nomination Committee has discussed matters relating to the
appointment of senior management members during the year. The
Nomination Committee also considered and resolved that all the existing
Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the Company.

Financial Reporting and Internal Control
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the preparation
of financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently used and applied. The Board aims to present a clear and
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and
interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and
announcements in a timely manner.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration

The performance and remuneration of the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the fees paid and payable to
Ernst & Young and other external auditors in respect of audit services
amounted to approximately RMB2,110,000 (2014: RMB2,995,000). In
addition, approximately RMB167,000 (2014: RMB491,000) was charged
for other non-audit services.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The Company conducted regular review to
monitor the Company’s internal management and operation during the
year. Procedures have been designed to ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and diligence,
the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance from the
Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice from external
legal advisors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Company also adopted
internal control procedures relating to, among others, signing authority
and procedures since February 2007. The Company has an Audit and
Legal Department consisting 3 members with extensive experience in the
legal field. The main duties of the Audit and Legal department include:

° providing legal advice on major business decisions
o reviewing and drafting legal documents

o handling legal disputes

o advising on legal issues related to daily operations
o conducting internal training for compliance matters

Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, which were prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company, Ernst
& Young, on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 58 to 59.

Going concern

Other than the events stated in note 2.1 to the Financial Statements on
pages 75 to 77, there are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Investors Relations

The Company places strong emphasis on its communications
with investors, and considers that maintaining on-going and open
communications with investors can promote investors’ understanding of
and confidence in the Company. The Company disclosed all necessary
information to the Shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules and
met with media, securities analysts, fund managers and investors on a
regular basis to respond to their enquiries so as to provide them with a
clearer picture of the Company’s achievements in business management
and other aspects.

The general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication
channel between the Board and Shareholders. The Company will meet
with the Shareholders and respond to their enquiries in the general
meetings. The Chairman attended the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 June 2015.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
(“EGM”)

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2011
Revision) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continued)
Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post or by facsimile,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax,
addressing to the head office of the Company at the following address or
facsimile number:

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
Room 1402, Harbour Centre

25 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Attention to: Company Secretary

Fax: 8562 3416 2111

Changes to Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these
documents are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ESNSREEAERE

Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (F2 XX %), aged 59, an executive Director, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the Chairman of the Board. He was one of the
founders of the Jinzhou Plants. He was conferred various honours including
the Model for the Labour of the Building Materials Systems of the Nation, the
medal of “May 1st” Labour of Liaoning Province, the Builders Merit award
of Liaoning Province, the Outstanding Member of the China Communist
Party, the Outstanding Entrepreneur of the Building Materials Industry of the
Nation, the Venture Entrepreneur of the Liaoning Province and First Prize
Entrepreneur of Jinzhou. He is also a guest professor of Liaoning University
of Technology and Vice President of Bohai University. Prior to the founding
of Jinzhou Plants, he was the Chairman of /1 1% A HIT I (£ E) AR
& £ 2 8] [Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.) and the Director
of §31 — A A K (Jinzhou 155 Factory), a state-owned factory engaging in
quartz crucibles manufacturing. He has been granted a special subsidy by
the State Council in 2004 for his contribution in engineering technology. He
was elected as a delegate of the 11th and 12th National People’s Congress
of the People’s Republic of China in 2008 and 2013. He is the father of Mr.
Tan Xin, the executive Director of the Company and General Manager of the
Company.

Mr. HSU You Yuan (FF#5 3 4t 4), aged 61, an executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was appointed an
executive Director on the same date. He graduated with a master degree in
Business Administration from the Chinese Culture University in 1980. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. HSU was the Managing Director of Wafer Works
Corp. (“WWX”) from February 1998 to June 2003 and later became the
Vice-Chairman of the board of WWX in June 2003. WWX is a manufacturer
of silicon wafer for the semiconductor industry and is listed on the Gre Tai
Securities Market in Taiwan since May 2002. He was the managing director
of Silicon Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. and was appointed the
Chief Executive Officer of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp.,
responsible for overseeing, amongst others, WWX'’s investment in the solar
energy industry. In March 2006, he was appointed a director and he was
subsequently appointed as the Chairman of the board of Jinzhou Youhua in
September 2006. Mr. HSU'’s previous work credentials also include acting
as Deputy General Manager of Mosel Vitelic Inc., a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange and as a member of the board of directors and
Executive Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of
Mosel Vitelic Inc. Mr. HSU had also made contributions to non-commercial
sectors in the past. He served as a researcher, a deputy director, and the
director of Business Department of the Executive Yuan Development Fund of
Taiwan (Note: Executive Yuan Development Fund is now known as National
Development Fund, Executive Yuan). He was also a lecturer of Statistics and
Managerial Mathematics for the Business Administration department at the
Chinese Culture University.
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Directors (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. TAN Xin (:Z2%), aged 32, is an executive Director and the General
Manager of the Company. He joined the Group in July 2005. He holds
a bachelor’s degree of Marketing from the Macau University of Science
and Technology, and a master’s degree of Business Administration from
University of East Anglia, the U.K. Mr. Tan is also a Standing Committee
member of the Liaoning Province Youth Federation (B2 4 5 FH & @ BT
ZE@p8), Vice President of the Liaoning Province Young Entrepreneurs
Association (EEZEESFSF L ERWZEIEER) and Member of the 12th
Jonghou Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (81T EE+ —[EH1%#Z &). Mr. Tan was awarded Year 2011
Meritorious Entrepreneur (2011FEENEID ) by Jinzhou Municipal
Government. Before taking the role of the General Manager, Mr. Tan also
worked in other subsidiaries within the Group and accumulated plenty of
experiences from his prior positions. He is the son of Mr. TAN Wenhua who is
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Company.

Mr. WANG Chunwei (£ {&), aged 44, is an executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. He joined the Company on 1 January 2007
and was the Company’s deputy general manager of China region, who was
responsible for the accounting and finance matter of the Group. He obtained
a Master of Business Administration from the State University of New Jersey
(Rutgers). He is a certified public accountant in Maryland, the United States.
Prior to joining the Group, he was a Special Assistant to President & Deputy
Spokesman of The Office of General Manager of WWX, the Spokesman and
Chief Financial Officer of Panram International Corp., a company listed on the
Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.
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Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 7k #), aged 64, was appointed an
Independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Dr. Wong
is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Chartered Institute for Securities and
Investments, UK, Association of International Accountants, Society of
Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong, The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland, UK, as well as a member of Hong Kong Securities
Institute, The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, Macau Society of Certified
Practising Accountants and an associate member of The Chartered
Institute of Bankers in Scotland, UK. Dr. WONG had been a director and
Chief Executive Officer of Minghua Group International Holdings Limited,
a listed public company in the United States, until 30th September 2004.
Dr. WONG had also been an independent non-executive director of Rare
Earths Global Limited, a company listed on the London Stock Exchange
— AIM Market, since March 2012, and retired as an independent non-
executive director on 2 May 2014 because of the cancellation of
admission on AIM of the Ordinary Shares of Rare Earths Global Limited.
According to the filings made available to public through the EDGAR
database in U.S., for the quarterly period ended 30 September 2005,
Minghua Group International Holdings Limited was “a small business
issuer” and “a development stage company”. Dr. WONG has been
the Chief Consultant of KND & Co. CPA Limited, an independent non-
executive director of APAC Resources Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since July 2004; an
independent non-executive director of China Merchants Land Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
June 2012; and an independent non-executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in August 2014.

Ms. FU Shuangye (ff7E %), aged 47, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Ms. FU graduated from
Wuhan University with a bachelor degree in English Literature in 1990 and
obtained her further legal studies certificate in the Law School of China
Politics and Law University in 1997. She was qualified as a PRC lawyer in
1998. She was a partner of Zhong Lun W&D Law Firm in Beijing. Ms. FU is
now the Managing Director Partner of Zhong Hao Attorneys-at-Law.
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Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Dr. LIN Wen(#),aged 75, an independent non-executive Director,
joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Dr. LIN received his Ph.D. degrees
in Materials Science & Engineering. He joined AT&T Bell Laboratories
(subsequently, Lucent Bell Labs/Agere) and engaged in the research and
development of silicon semiconductor materials in 1975. Dr. LIN is the
author of over 60 papers and book chapters published by internationally
recognised science magazines, including Czochralski process of silicon
crystals and the application and manufacturing of silicon crystals in
semiconductors. Czochralski process is the key process employed by the
Group in the manufacturing of monocrystalline silicon ingots. He owns
several patents. Dr. LIN was a recipient of the 1983 Bell Laboratories
Distinguished Technical Staff Award. Since 1999, Dr. LIN has been a
member of the Starting Materials Team of ITRS (International Technology
Roadmap of Semiconductor). Dr. LIN is a member of Phi Tau Phi Honor
Societies and was served as its Chairman. Dr. LIN is a life member of
the Chinese Institute of Engineers-USA, and he served as its president
in 1987 and National Council Chairman in 1995. In addition, Dr. LIN
also served as Chairman of METS (Modern Engineering and Technology
Seminars), as well as Chairman of Sino-American Technology and
Engineering Conference.

Dr. LIN has retired as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the nomination committee, the member of each of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from the close of the AGM on 29 June 2015. Dr. Lin has confirmed to
the Board that there is no disagreement between him and the Board and
that there is no other matter in relation to his retirement that needs to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
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Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. ZHANG Chun (3£#%5), aged 83, an independent non-executive
Director, joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Mr. ZHANG graduated
from Tianjin University in 1955 and conducted research on semiconductor
silicon material in It RE B S EH 4T (Beijing Non-Ferrous Metal
Research Institution) in the same year. During 1965 to 1979, he was
involved in the establishment of the semi-conductor materials factory
in Emei and the monocrystalline silicon factory in Luoyang and their
production and technological management. During 1979 to 1998, he
was the supervisor of a semi-conductor material research unit of Beijing
Non-Ferrous Metal Research Institution, the supervisor of the B 3
Eae bl T2 0 (State Semi-conductor Material Engineering
Research Centre) and he also acted as the general manager of & &4
EEEHPRIAR A (Jinxin Semi-conductor Material Company Limited).
The (a) project on 3 to 4 inches monocrystalline silicon for the use in
integrated circuit and (b) the research project on the manufacture of
125mm monocrystalline silicon wafer for the use in 2 to 3um integrated
circuit organized and led by Mr. ZHANG received R}l & — 548
(the Science and Technology Progress First Prize) by the China National
Non-Ferrous Metals Industry Corp. Mr. ZHANG was granted a special
subsidy of government from the State Council since 1992, was awarded
the title of Supreme Model for the Labour of the Non-ferrous Metals
Industry of the Nation in 1993 and was awarded as a 2B % TEE
(National Pioneer) by the State Council in 1995.

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Interest and
Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief Executives of the Company
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” in this annual report. Each Director has been
appointed for a term of three years. The Directors’ emoluments, the basis
of determining the same (including any bonus payments, whether fixed or
discretionary in nature, irrespective of whether the Director has or does
not have a service contract) and the Directors’ fees are set out in note 9
to the Financial Statements and the section headed and “Report of the
Directors — Emolument Policy” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
above, each Director confirmed that there are no other matters that need
to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company and
there is no other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Senior Management

Mr. YUEN Kin Shan, (=3£1l]), aged 34, is the Financial Controller,
Company Secretary and Investor Relations Director of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Accounting from the
University of New South Wales in Australia and he is member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.
He joined the Company in September 2014 and has over 10 years of
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate
finance.

Dr. CHEN Wei (BREY), aged 44, Special Assistant to the Chairman and
Overseas Sales Representative. She joined the Group in July 2006. She
obtained her Doctor of Philosophy in Management at Wuhan University
of Technology (E/Z£3E T X£2) in 2005. Prior to joining the Group, she
was appointed Vice-President of Xi’an International Trade Promotion Co.
Ltd. (AL HIMEBEISEE A 7)) and the Vice-President of International
Transport Division of Shaanxi Machinery & Equipment Import & Export
Corp. (PR R L A A RIBIREES A7),

Mr. LI Hongbang (Z=£3F), aged 43, the general manager of Ingot
Pulling and Wafer Slicing Business Department of the Group. He joined
the Group in 2003. He graduated from Zhejiang University in 2010
with a bachelor’s degree in marketing. From 2005, Mr. LI served as
the office supervisor. Mr. LI was the head of Sales Department since
2007 and the supervisor of Shanghai Marketing Center and the head of
Sales Department since 2009. Later, he became the director of Group
Production Planning Department in 2013. He has served as the general
manager of Ingot Pulling Business Department since May 2014, and also
served as the general manager of Wafer Slicing Business Department
since October 2015.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. WANG Lixin (£ 32 %), aged 48, the general manager of Cell Business
Department of the Group. He graduated from the Party School of
Liaoning Province in 2000. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. WANG was
the Chief Engineer of Jinzhou Thermal Power Corporation (§8 /1 £ 42
Aa]) from April 1990 to May 2008. He joined the Group as the head of
Cell Business Department and Equipment Department in 2008 and later
became the plant head of Cell Business Department since 2012 and the
general manager of Cell Business Department since 2014,

Mr. ZHANG Hai (587&), aged 33, the general manager of Module
Business Department of the Group. He joined the Group in May 2009. He
graduated from Northeastern University in 2006 with a bachelor’s degree
in information technology and business management and is an electrical
engineer. In 2010, Mr. ZHANG was employed by Huachang Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd (& XREHZER A F) as the head of Quality
Assurance Department. He served as the head of Group Quality Control
Department in 2012 and the director of Group Quality Management
Department in February 2014. In August 2014, he became the general
manager of Module Business Department.

Mr. ZHANG Yuewen (iR X), aged 51, the general manager of System
Integration Business Department of the Group. He joined the Group
in 2003 and was appointed as the head of Production Operation
Department on the same date. Mr. ZHANG served as the head of
Production Operation Department since 2003 and then became the
Marketing Director of Solargiga in 2005. At the end of 2009, he acted
as the general manager of Shanghai Jingji Electronic Materials Co., Ltd..
In February 2014, he was appointed as the general manager of System
Integration Business Department and general manager of Shanghai Jingji
Company (EiF&E D).
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Report of the Directors
EEERGEE

The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group. The
principal activities of the Group are the trading of, manufacturing of and
provision of processing services for polysilicon and monocrystalline silicon
solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of and trading of photovoltaic cells
and modules, the installation of photovoltaic systems and the operating
of photovoltaic power plants. The analysis of the principal activities and
geographical locations of the operations of the subsidiaries during the
financial year are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities, including a description of an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 9
to 22 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer, cell or
modules manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five
largest customers did not exceed 36% (2014: 64%) and 79% (2014
86%) of the Group’s total sales in 2015 respectively.

The largest customer for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014
was Sharp Corporation (“Sharp”), the world’s leading solar photovoltaic
enterprise. The Company has a well-established supply and sales
relationship with Sharp for almost 10 years, from initial cooperation by the
Company to supply solar ingots, and then gradually expanding to solar
wafers and solar cells. From 2013 onwards, the Company has added a
solar module supply deal to its solid relationship with Sharp. The range
of products the Company now sells to Sharp has expanded rapidly, to
include not only ingots, wafers and cells but also solar modules. The
Company has not only become Sharp’s photovoltaic industry whole chain
products supplier, but is also one of the largest suppliers in the PRC for
Sharp.

The Group currently procures raw materials from about 111 major
suppliers (2014: 116). In aggregate, purchases from its largest and five
largest suppliers did not exceed 23% (2014: 17%) and 65% (2014: 48%)
of the Group’s total purchases in 2015 respectively. Save for WWX, at
no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major suppliers and/or customers.
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Financial Statements and Dividends

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the
Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 60 to 168. The Directors do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.

Transfer to Reserves

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2015 was RMB15,653,000 (2014: loss of RMB63,846,000)
had been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 64.

As at 31 December 2015, distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB1,141,354,000 (2014: RMB1,142,221,000).

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB165,000 (2014: RMB2,980,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2015 are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the annual report.
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Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua, Chairman
Mr. HSU You Yuan

Mr. TAN Xin

Mr. WANG Chunwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Dr. LIN Wen (retired with effect from 29 June 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Chun
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. WANG Chunwei, Mr. ZHANG Chun will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. HSU You Yuan,

Mr. WANG Chunwei, Mr. ZHANG Chun, being eligible, and will offer & AK&ERE(T -
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
Directors’ Service Contracts EERBEN

MERNEERREFASEREFNESHADFF]
SMAEMRATR—FRREECEERERN) FULLE

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service agreement with the Company which

is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of BRI 3 -

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Related Party Transactions BEFRXS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, transactions with the following BZZZ—HF+ZA=+—HILFE > BTIALTH
parties are considered to be related party transactions: RBWRABBEERRS -

Name of party &5 &8 Relationship B8 {%

Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited
BMNEERRERERAF

Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
ZARN B EFBLEES

Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited
SMNERYEEEERAF

Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
ZARN B EFBLEES

Jinzhou Youlin Semi-Conductor Material Co., Ltd.
ERMEMEFEEMRER AT

Controlled by spouse of Tanxin, an executive director of the Company
FARNEHITESEENEBIES

Jinzhou Aoke Yangguang New Energy Company Limited
RN B S RE KH R R D =

Associate of the Group
REEMNEE AT

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 40 to the  HEEBEEA RS HNF BRI KRR TI0HE ©

financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 F3f 43



44

Report of the Directors B2 iREE

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has entered into a number of agreements with certain parties
which are regarded as connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions,
details of which are set out below.

A. Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The following transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing
Rules and would be exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirements but are subject to the annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

Provision of water and heat services by #EMZE LY & A5 R
23 |] (Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited)
("Jinzhou Huarong”)

On 2 December 2009, Jinzhou Huarong entered into a framework
service agreement with the Company pursuant to which Jinzhou
Huarong agreed to provide water and heat (the “Services”) to the
Company and its subsidiaries designated by it from time to time.
The agreement commenced on 1 January 2010 and expired on 31
December 2012.

On 19 October 2012, the Company has entered into a new service
agreement (the “New Service Agreement”) with Jinzhou Huarong to
renew the pre-existing agreement as well as to determine the annual
cap for the transactions for the years ended 31 December 2015.
The term of the New Service Agreement commenced on 1 January
2013 and expired on 31 December 2015.

The New Service Agreement was entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
fees to be charged by Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services
were determined comparable to the prevailing market prices in local
markets in the PRC based on the actual consumption of the water
and heat supplied to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate fees paid by

the Group to Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services amounted
to approximately RMB909,000 (2014: RMB1,137,000).
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

A

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of water and heat services by #8MWEHE WYX EEHR
23 |] (Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited)
(“Jinzhou Huarong”) (continued)

Based on an estimate of the Group’s expected consumption
of water and heat for the year ended 31 December 2015, it is
expected that the annual cap amounts payable by the Group under
the New Service Agreement will not exceed RMB2,603,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference to
(i) the expected increase in the Group’s production capacity for the
year ended 31 December 2015; (i) the increase in the expected
consumption of water and heat in the production process resulting
therefrom; (iii) the expected utilisation rate of the Group’s production
capacity for the year ended 31 December 2015; and (iv) the
expected inflation rate in the PRC for 2013.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Huarong is owned as to 90% by $5 M2 #T R RHE & R
(Jinzhou Huaxin Silicon Material Trading Department) (“Huaxin
Silicon”), a sole proprietorship established in the PRC and wholly-
owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua, an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company and as to 10% by an independent third
party. Jinzhou Huarong is an associate of Mr. TAN Wenhua and
hence a connected person of the Company. As the applicable ratios
in respect of the annual caps of these transactions are less than
5%, the transactions under the New Service Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules and are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement but are subject to the annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company and are thus subject
to the annual review, reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:

Supply of graphite materials by #8/MEZEftE%IEHER L &
(Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited) (“Jinzhou
Changhua”)

On 2 December 2009, the Company entered into a framework
supply agreement with Jinzhou Changhua and $#/M{E&E F#1%!
APFR2AR (Jinzhou Youxin Electronic Co., Ltd.) (“Jinzhou Youxin”)
pursuant to which Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin agreed
to supply graphite materials and quartz crucibles respectively to
the Company or its subsidiaries as requested by them from time
to time. Such graphite materials and quartz crucibles serve as the
essential materials for the Group’s production of silicon ingots. The
supply agreement commenced on 1 January 2010 and expired
on 31 December 2012. Formal purchase agreements (by way of
purchase orders and confirmations) were entered into between the
Group, Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin (as the case may be)
with the detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant
purchase orders. The purchase arrangement under the supply
agreement has been conducted on normal commercial terms and
on terms no less favourable than those available from independent
third parties.

On 19 October 2012, the Company entered into a new supply
agreement (the “New Materials Supply Agreement”) with Jinzhou
Changhua to renew the pre-existing agreement as well as to
determine the annual cap for the transactions for the three years
ended 31 December 2015. The Company obtained the approval
from its independent shareholders in respect of the New Materials
Supply Agreement on 27 December 2012. Upon approval, the term
of the New Materials Supply Agreement commenced on 1 January
2013 and expired on 31 December 2015.

The New Materials Supply Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on normal
commercial terms. The purchase price payable by the Group to
Jinzhou Changhua under the New Materials Supply Agreement is
estimated with reference to the expected purchase amount of the
graphite materials and the prevailing market prices.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Supply of graphite materials by #8/M B E#IZER L T
(Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited) (“Jinzhou
Changhua”) (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount
of the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Changhua in
relation to the sale and purchase of graphite materials amounted to
approximately RMB6,354,000 (2014: RMB22,056,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the purchase of graphite
materials for the year ended 31 December 2015, it is expected
that the annual cap amounts payable by the Group for transactions
under the New Materials Supply Agreement will not exceed
RMB114,421,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015;

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference to
(i) the costs incurred by the Group for the purchase of the graphite
materials for the nine months ended 30 September 2012; (ii) the
expected increase in the Group’s production capacity for the year
ended 31 December 2015; (iii) the expected increase in demand for
the graphite materials for the production requirements of the Group
in anticipation of the expected increase in demand for the Group’s
products; and (iv) the expected utilisation rate of the Group’s
production capacity for the year ended 31 December 2015.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Changhua is owned as to 40% by Huaxin Silicon, which is
wholly owned by Mr. Tan Wenhua. Jinzhou Changhua is therefore
an associate of Mr. Tan Wenhua and hence a connected person of
the Company. As the applicable ratios in respect of the annual caps
of these transactions are more than 5%, the transactions under the
New Materials Supply Agreement constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

B.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED &% &€

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Supply of graphite materials by #iMEZf E#IEER A
(Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited) (“Jinzhou
Changhua”) (continued)

The transactions as set out in section (A) “Continuing Connected
Transactions Exempt from the Independent Shareholders’ Approval
Requirements” above constitute continuing connected transactions
for the Group which are exempt from independent shareholders’
approval under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules and are subject
to the annual review, reporting and announcement requirements set
out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions as set out
in section (B) “Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions”
above are subject to the annual review, reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements set out in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed and the
independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 were entered
into and conducted:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(i)  either on normal commercial terms or terms no less favourable
to the Company than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

(i)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and the terms and the proposal annual caps set out above that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have issued
their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group from
pages 44 to 49 of the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transaction

On 28 April 2014, Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou
Yangguang”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sales and purchase agreement (“S&P Agreement”) pursuant to which
Jinzhou Yangguang agreed to purchase, and Kinmac Holding Limited
(“Kinmac Holding”) agreed to sell, 10% equity interests in Jinzhou Jinmao
Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd. (“the Target Subsidiary”) beneficially
owned by Kinmac Holding.

Before the Acquisition, the Target Subsidiary is owned 86% by Jinzhou
Yangguang, 10% by Kinmac Holding and 4% by Sunvision Capital
Investment Limited and is accounted as a subsidiary of the Company.

The consideration for the Acquisition is RMB14 million (the “Consideration”)
which was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between Jinzhou
Yangguang and Kinmac Holding and was determined with reference to
10% of the registered capital of the Target Subsidiary.

As Kinmac Holding was currently a substantial shareholder of the Target
Subsidiary which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
Kinmac Holding is a connected person by virtue of its substantial
shareholding in the Target Subsidiary and the Acquisition is therefore a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Acquisition are more than
1% but less than 5%, the Acquisition is only subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements and is exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Upon Completion of the Acquisition, Jinzhou Yangguang owned 96%
equity interests in the Target Subsidiary.
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Connected Transaction (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements include transactions
that did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and transactions that
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as disclosed above.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally approved and adopted the share option
scheme on 27 February 2008 (“Share Option Scheme”) in which certain
participants may be granted options to subscribe for the ordinary shares
in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each (“Shares”). The Directors believe that the Share Option Scheme
is important for the recruitment and retention of quality executives and
employees.

The subscription price for the Shares to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme will be determined by the Board and will be the highest
of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must
be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of
dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business

days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue immediately following completion of
the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing”)
(but taking no account of any Shares which may be sold pursuant to the
exercise of the over-allotment option in connection with the Listing) and
capitalisation issue, being 169,076,650 Shares which represents 5.26%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2015 was 158,186,650 Shares which
represents 4.93% of the existing issued share capital of the Company (after
deducting the grant of options to subscribe for 42,269,163 Shares on 29
December 2008 and adding back the number of options to subscribe for
10,285,000 Shares and 21,094,163 Shares lapsed on 30 April 2009 and
31 December 2010, respectively).

No option may be granted to any person such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
to be granted to each participant in any 12-month period up to the date
of the latest grant under the Share Option Scheme exceeds 1% of the
number of Shares in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board,
which must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant.

No share option was granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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Report of the Directors B2 iREE

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2015, so far as the Directors are aware, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company and their associates had the
following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code:

EERERFARSTHRABREQFR
HEEZENRD - HERORESH
BERAR

RZZB-RE+ZA=+—-0 BESHE EZRAE
RARSTHAERFEE ZHBEA T RA QT K EARR
EE(ERRBHRPEHEMN(TEZRBEMRD ) HEXV
BIBRS - HEROREST - BFACTHIRERS
kBB RGIEFREFEN ST CMARBEEETAEA
SITHEARD AR ANESRNT

Number of ordinary Approximate

shares held percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding (%)
Name of Director Nature interest s REREAE BROFRADL
3 ERME (Mt=ET) (%)
Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial interest (Note 2) 528,624,443 (L) 16.46%
BNERE BEEER (ME2)
Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 155,320,308 (L) 4.84%
FEEERR (ME2)
Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial interest 13,861,346 (L) 0.43%
R ERES
Interest in options (Note 3) 239,835 (L) 0.01%
REBIRENRER (HRE3)
Security interest (Note 3) 239,835 (L) 0.01%
I IRRE R (FIEER)
Trustee’s interest 7,252,085 (L) 0.23%
FIEARER
Mr. WANG Chunwei Beneficial interest (Note 4) 100,500 (L) 0.01%
TEEREE Btk (M)
Family interest (Note 4) 262 (L) 0.01%
Rtz (MiEE4)
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Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations
(continued)

Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

(2)  As at 31 December 2015, Mr. Tan Wenhua is interested in an aggregate of
683,944,751 Shares, of which (i) 528,624,443 Shares are directly held by Mr.
Tan Wenhua; and (i) 155,320,308 Shares are held by You Hua Investment
Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan Wenhua.

(8) As at 31 December 2015, Mr. Hsu You Yuan had security interest in these
Shares pursuant to a share charge granted by the relevant employees
and consultants to secure their obligations to pay for the purchase price
of the Shares and their obligations to comply with the relevant regulatory
requirements to which they are subject to (if any).

(4)  As at 31 December 2015, Mr. Wang is interested in an aggregate of 100,762
Shares, of which 100,500 Shares are directly held by Mr. Wang and 262
Shares are held by Mr. Wang’s spouse.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2015, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the persons or corporations (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who have interest or short positions
in the shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have
otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:
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Number of ordinary Approximate

shares held percentage of

(Note 1) shareholding (%)

Name Capacity FREBEREE BOFRAD

F 55 (M$=E1) (%)

Hiramatsu International Corp. Beneficial owner 349,118,692 (L) 10.87%
BREBA

Hiramatsu Hiroharu (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 349,118,692 (L) 10.87%

(MfzE2) FEEERER

Wafer Works Investment Corp. Beneficial owner 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%
(“WWIC”) BREBA

Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”) (Note 3) Interest of a controlled corporation 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%

BRNEROERAH
(T&@&BE ) (HFE3)

ZEEEED
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares (continued)

Notes:
1. The letter “L.” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiry, Hiramatsu International Corp. is wholly-
owned by Hiramatsu Hiroharu as at the date of this report. By virtue of the
SFO, Hiramatsu Hiroharu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Hiramatsu International Corp.

3. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiry, WWIC is wholly-owned by WWX as at the date of this
report. By virtue of the SFO, WWX is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by WWIC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ Interest in Potentially Competing
Businesses

Mr. TAN Wenhua, being the executive Director, is interested in other
related businesses, particulars of which are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Tan held approximately
40% interest in Jinzhou Changhua. Jinzhou Changhua is engaged in the
manufacturing of graphite and graphite related products. The business
of Jinzhou Changhua does not compete with that of the Group. Jinzhou
Changhua, as a company which manufactures graphite and graphite
related products, is not a competitor of the Group because (a) the
Group is not engaged in the manufacturing of graphite or any graphite
related products; and (b) graphite is not a substitute for polysilicon in the
manufacturing of solar products currently produced by the Group.
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Non-competition Undertaking

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business (apart
from the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business. The Directors have also
signed a non-competition undertaking with the Company.

Disclosure on how the non-competition undertaking has been complied
with and enforced would be consistent with the principles of making
voluntary disclosures under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the non-competition undertaking dated 27 February 2008,
Mr. TAN Wenhua shall continue to be bound by the terms of the
non-competition undertaking in the event that he ceases to be a Director
but remains a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is
actual or potential conflict in interest.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 44 to 49, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by the Company to
confirm that all Directors have been complied with the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Corporate Governance

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the corporate governance report on pages 23 to 33.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of
references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit Committee are the three
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Wong Wing Kuen Albert,
an independent non-executive Director, is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal auditor
(where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as regards their
duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external
and internal audits and such other financial and accounting matters as the
Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an independent
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may
be assigned by the Board from time to time. The audit committee
has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual consolidated financial
statements for the year 2015, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share capital
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed with the
Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

Auditors

On 29 June 2015, KPMG resigned as auditor at the conclusion of
the 2014 annual general meeting and did not offer themselves for re-
appointment. On 29 June 2015, Ernst & Young was appointed as the
auditor of the Company. The financial statements of the Company
for the year have been audited by Ernst & Young. The Company has
not changed its external auditors during the financial year ended 31
December 2015 and up to the date of this annual report.

By Order of the Board
TAN Wenhua

Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Bz BE 3R

EY:x

To the shareholders of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on
pages 60 to 168, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report ¥ 3 #ZBHEmR &

Auditors’ responsibility (continueq)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
31 December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

23 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_FT—AF+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

2015 2014

—E—-RfF —=—-mE

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

{iE AR¥TR AREETT

Revenue Uk % 5 2,899,550 2,864,699
Cost of sales SHERAR (2,657,012) (2,500,782)
Gross profit EF 242,538 363,917
Other income and gains, net Hag A K Wi F 58 6 141,241 49,997
Selling and distribution expenses SHEN DX (28,450) (28,917)
Administrative expenses TR (202,781) (213,912)
Profit from operations &R 152,548 171,085

Impairment losses on prepayments BEA RN ROE R AR R HETR

for raw materials 18 - (70,369)
Provision for inventory FEBERERE

purchase commitments 33 - (43,582)
Share of profits less losses FEALERE A R FEREE

of associates (13,093) (975)
Finance costs BB A 8 (119,984) (121,361)
Profit/(loss) before tax MR BEIRE, (BE) 7 19,471 (65,202)
Income tax (expense)/credit SR (Bx) KR 11 (3,030) 4,831
Profit/(loss) for the year FENE(FHR) 16,441 (60,371)
Attributable to: BTN AL RS :

Equity holders of the Company AATERFTEA 15,653 (63,846)

Non-controlling interests FEEFIE R 788 3,475
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE(EE) 16,441 (60,371)

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) AATEBRERFEAERL

per share attributable to BREARBHERR(HE)
ordinary equity holders (AE¥5)
of the Company (RMB cents) 13 0.49 (1.99)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEHEWARXR

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_T—AF+-_A=1T—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

2015 2014
—ZT-HF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBF T
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE(FHE) 16,441 (60,371)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for FEHMZEKA(BE)
the year (after tax and reclassification (RBEREHDEHER) :
adjustments):
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently ARBRREHN P EEBRMIER !
to profit or loss:
— Changes in fair value of available-for-sale —AHHERENFEE
investments 4,443 -
- Currency translation differences -—ERBEER (45,439) 11,593
Total comprehensive loss for the year, aftertax S£E2HEEEAEGNIKRBIER) (24,555) (48,778)
Attributable to: BT AL HEA -
Equity holders of the Company RATERITEA (25,343) (52,253)
Non-controlling interests RIS 788 3,475
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEXEEEARE (24,555) (48,778)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B SR R

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

2015 2014
—E—REF —E2-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{iE AR¥TR AREETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENRE 14 1,796,131 1,968,776
Prepayments for acquisitions of BEYE  BENRRENFESFE
property, plant and equipment 46,767 14,075
Land lease prepayments TR EFESRIE 17 120,200 138,601
Prepayments for raw materials R RINFES A 18 83,184 231,278
Investments in associates REFE N TINIRE 20 59,721 72,731
Deferred tax assets IRIERIBEE 31 23,515 16,724
Other non-current assets HittIERBERE 21 28,710 40,336
Total non-current assets IFREEELRE 2,158,228 2,482,521
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 22 613,170 694,533
Trade and bills receivables FEWEZEREFNERE 23 578,936 282,427
Prepayments, deposits and FEAFRIE - ZeREMERFE
other receivables 24 584,134 480,091
Current tax recoverable BNER AT YR [E1 %54 18 1,233 501
Available-for-sale investments ARHERE 25 123,942 -
Pledged deposits 2IEAEFER 26 459,171 145,710
Cash and cash equivalents HERIELSZEY 27 193,953 195,257
Total current assets RENEEMAE 2,554,539 1,798,519
Current liabilities mRENEE
Interest-bearing borrowings STEEE 28 1,931,849 1,420,188
Trade and bills payables ENESERAREE 29 799,248 806,478
Other payables and accruals HihEAFRIER TR 30 166,346 201,273
Current tax payable BN H 18 6,160 6,360
Provision for inventory GFEBERERE
purchase commitments 33 46,250 43,582
Total current liabilities BB EREE 2,949,853 2,477,881
Net current liabilities REBAEFEE (395,314) (679,362)
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERMRSERE 1,762,914 1,803,159
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #R& B SRR 2%

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA AR#%I/(&)
2015 2014
—E—-RF —E-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hEs AR¥TR AREETT
Non-current liabilities FkRBARE
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 28 348,144 385,872
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEERE 31 2,855 2,928
Deferred income IEFEURA 32 187,165 196,775
Other non-current liabilities HibIERBas 33 61,887 41,566
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEEZE 600,051 627,141
Net assets EEZRE 1,162,863 1,176,018
Equity xR
Equity attributable to equity AATERSEAELER
holders of the Company
Share capital %N 35 276,727 276,727
Reserves [T 36 794,013 819,356
1,070,740 1,096,083
Non-controlling interests IR R 92,123 79,935
Total equity R 1,162,863 1,176,018
TAN Wenhua HSU You Yuan
E & By
Director Director
EZZE EZE

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 F3f 63



64

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e RS

==

B &

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_FT—AF+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FRARERRELER
General Non-
Share Share reserve Capital ~ Exchange Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium fund reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Bk  ROEE -REREE  EREBE  ERBE  HERE 268 a3 FEGIMEE  RREE
RMB'000  RMBOO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'OOO  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
As at 1 January 2014 W-E-mE-B-B 2716727 1731645 189,663 42,768 (13,668) (66,710)  (1,007,357) 1,153,058 85,738 1,238,796
Loss for the year EBEE - - - - - - (6384 (63840) 3475 (60,371)
Qther comprehensive income FEHMZE
for the year: A
Currency translation EHREER
differences - - - - 11,593 - - 11,593 - 11,593
Total comprehensive income/foss) 2N/ (BilR) 6% - - - - 11,593 - [63%de) (52,259 3475 (8T78)
Acqisition of non-controling WE-EHELAN
interest in a subsidliary FRAMER - - - - - 4722) - (4729 (9,278 (14,000)
Appropriation to reserves SEEHE - - 10,056 - - - (10,056) - - -
As at 31 December 2014 R=E-mE
+-Az1-H 216,727 1781645 199,700 42,768 (2075 (11,432 (1,081,259) 1,096,083 7993 1,176,018
As at 1 January 2015 W-2-1%-F-H 216,121 1,731,645 199,709 42,768 (2,075) (71,432)  (1,081,259) 1,096,083 79935 1,176,018
Proft for the year EETE - - - - - - 1568 1568 788 16441
Other comprehensive EEHMbAE
income/[loss) for the year: WA/ ()
Changes in fair value of MHHEREATE
available-for-sale investments, 28 (MBHES)
net o tax (Note 25) (B305) - - - = - 4,443 - 4,443 - 4,443
Currency tranglation EHREER
differences - - - - (45,439) - - (45,439) - (45,439)
Total comprenensive income/(oss) ~ 2EMWA / (E5ig) 458 = - - - (45,439) 4,443 15,653 (25,343) 788 (24,555
Capital contribution from FERERLE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 11,400 11,400
Appropriation to reserves PEEHE - - 9,026 - - - (9,026) - - -
As at 31 December 2015 R-E-TE
+ZAz1-A 216,727 1,731,645 208,735 42,768 (47514)  (66989) (1,074,632 1,070,740 92123 1,162,863
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AERETMNER

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_T—AF+-_A=1T—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

2015 2014
—g-H%E —=-mE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

FEE AR¥TT AR¥ET T

Cash flows from operating activities K& EHRESRKE

Profit/(loss) before tax MELATRE,(B58) 19,471 (65,202)
Adjustments for: SRR
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 7(c) 205,351 202,085
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEYZE - BRERZELL
plant and equipment, R+ HEFESRIER
and land lease prepayment (hz) EiE 7(c) (100,242) 5,866
Share of profits less losses FE(LEEE A F]
of associates AEREE 13,093 975
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) EERR,
of inventories (MR E) 22(b) 9,711 (12,166)
Impairment losses on trade FEWE 5 8RR E AR
and other receivables B ER KR 23 = 2,109
Impairment losses on prepayments EM R FEARIERE
for raw materials BRHEHE 18 = 70,369
Finance costs AR 8 119,984 121,361
Provision for inventory GFEBERIE
purchase commitments & 33 - 43,582
Provision for warranties 1R ARG 33 20,321 19,012
Interest income from bank deposits BIRTTERHR B WA 6 (22,734) (8,284)
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss R () BEFE (146) 2,936
Changes in working capital: HEESEE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFE®RL, (1) 71,652 (234,995)
(Increase)/decrease in trade BWE SR - AARE - B2k
receivables, prepayments, H e FRIE (3 h0) R
deposits and other receivables (535,075) 66,269
Decrease in non-current prepayments  BE#HEHHIIE R BN TE(TERIE
for raw materials B 148,094 59,511
(Decrease)/increase in trade B SRR b eI 708
and other payables OR2), /& m (40,080) 280,203
Decrease in deferred income EFEW AR (9,610) (13,213)
Cash (used in)/generated KEES (A,
from operations FrBR<E (100,210) 540,418
The PRC income tax paid SAREREH (10,826) (7,691)

Net cash (used in)/generated from KEES (A,
operating activities FTBIREFE (111,036) 532,727
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS fReIREMER

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_FT—AF+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAR#%I/(&)

2015 2014
—g-H% —E-mE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BfEE AR¥TT ARBETF T

Cash flows from investing activities ®REFERESHRE

Payments for the purchase of property, MEBEYE BER

plant and equipment RIBEXZAHFE (120,819) (188,205)
Decrease in deposits with banks with REHHEA=EAULN

original maturity over three months RITIFEFR D = 20,000
Net cash outflow from acquisition Wi — B AR

of a subsidiary RERHFE 19 (10,500) (4,312)
Payments for the purchase BEIEMERAA

of wealth management products ;IE - (119,500)
Proceeds from disposals of land lease HETHHEERARE

prepayments, property, M BEREZE

plant and equipment Fri8sh1E 160,151 28,154
Interest received 2 FIE 22,734 3,397
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETHME(FFA)

investing activities BEFE 51,566 (260,466)
Cash flows from financing activities B EIBHRLKE
Placement of pledged bank deposits ERFCEMRTER (795,697) (100,423)
Release of pledged bank deposits RREIRARITER 482,236 161,623
Proceeds from bank loans RITERRHAMER

and other loans FrisFE 3,082,033 1,678,547
Repayment of bank loans EEBRITERR

and other loans Hih &% (2,608,100) (1,582,959
Repayment of bonds HEES = (300,000)
Payments for acquisition of Wb — R B A RN

non-controlling interests in a subsidiary eI AER AT ERE = (14,000)
Capital contribution from FEFIEERHE

non-controlling interests 11,400 -
Interest paid EAFE (119,984) (134,015)
Net cash generated from/(used in) mMEEEE(FrA)

financing activities HEFEA 51,888 (291,227)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS fReIREMRE R

Year ended 31 December 2015 HE-ZT—HF+-_A=1+—HItFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA AR#%I/(&)

2015 2014
—E-—RfF —E-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hEs AR¥T T ARBF T
Net decrease in cash and ReREEEEY
cash equivalents WA B (7,582) (18,960)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNEER
beginning of the year REZEEY 195,257 214,398
Effect of foreign exchange rate FE RSB
changes, net SEEE 6,278 (175)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FREALR
end of the year BHEEEY 27 193,953 195,257
Analysis of balances of cash and REeRRSZEEY
cash equivalents EER AT
Cash and bank balances BERIBITEE 27 193,953 195,257
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
B 7% ¥R 3% MY 5E

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

1. Corporate and group information 1. AEIREEER
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together FERERZERERAR(TARR ] ERHEHMBE R
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757, RSBl ALE ] BBRMOMAR 757 BERH
Taiwan stock code: 9157.TT) is a leading supplier of upstream and REE 9157 TN B ETHERERS A ELRIEHIE
downstream vertically integrated solar energy services. During the SMER - TR AEBFEREUTNEEEE
year, the Group was mainly engaged in the following four main 7%
businesses:
(@ the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing @ APGEERERSE TEHRE  BEREMK
services for monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers; [SRCEE JhERE RE R I TARAS
(o) the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar (b)) HEREBEARBERESI
cells;
(©) the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules; and © HEREBEXRAH R
(d) the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants. 0) HEERLENREI -
Information about subsidiaries EHEMBATNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RATEEMBARWFBNOT :
Proportion of ownership interest
it s=bdl]

Place and date of Authorised/

incorporation/ registered/ Group’s Held Held

establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form

RLiEAYe

HIBERAH e/2/ A5EH BARE  H-BHE
AAER REEHY B4 /BRTEL BRER #E LABE  IEER EERA

% % %
Jinzhou Rixin Siicon Materials Co., ~ The PRC Registered and paid-in captal 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading ~ Limited liabilty
Ltd. (‘Rixin) 9 May 2007, of RMB190,000,000 of monocrystaline ingots/ ~ company
SMBERME Mainland China HRRESER wafers ERERLE
ERAF(EE)) HE AR#190,000,000% HEREEER
“EELERANA BR/BR
hENE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)
Corporate and group information (continued) 1. AEAREEER @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEBARNER (@)
Proportion of ownership interest
it L3
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AL/
HABERAH He /i 258N BARY  H-BNE
DLEL REgHY VG G (15 B5  0ARE  1EER R
% % %
Jinzhou Jingji Solar Technology Co.,  The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited iabilty
Ltd. (*Jinzhou Jingj") 19 December 2007, of US§17,500,000 monocrystaline Wafers company
BNREABENE Mainland China HARRESER HERERESES ERERLT
ERAR(BMEERD e 1750000047
ZERLETZATAA
hER
Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in captal 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading ~ Limited liabilty
Energy Co,, Ltd. 15 December 2004, of RMB1,030,000,000 of monocrystalline nd company
(“Yangguang’) Mainland China HRRESER muticrystaline ingots/ ~~ BREAAR
ENGREEERLA e AR#1,030,0000007T wafers
(M&x) ZEEMETZATEA HEREEERR
HEIRE SERE/BR
Jinzhou Youhua Sticon Materials ~ The PRC Registered and paid-i capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and rading ~ Limited liabilty
Co., Ltd. (*Youhua Siicon’) 12 September 2008, of RMB320,000,000 of monocrystalline ingots/ ~ company
BMEERHERLT Mainland China HRRESER wafers ERERLE
(Mezi]) HE AR 3200000007 EREEER
“ZZ\ERATZA Bi/Eh

hEmE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-ZT—R&E+-H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)

(Br=BEBESIN -

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

AAR®FIE)

1. AEREEER @
BB A RNER (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 3+l
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
HRAEL/
HABHRAH i/ A5EH mARE  h-BNE
ARER RiEEng Bl/CRrER ERER 22} NBE  IEER EEFA
% % %

Shanghai Jingji Electronic The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading ~ Limited liabilty
Materials Co., Ltd. 16 March 1998, of US$6,950,000 of polysiicon and company
(Jingi") Mainland China dRRELER monocrystalingingots/  BREAAR

LEEHEFHRERAR HE 695000057 wafers
(&k) -ARNEZRTRA HERBESRER

hE ERER/ER
Solar Technology Investment Cayman Islands Authorised capital of 100 100 - Investment holding Limited liability
(Cayman) Corp (STIC") 15 December 2006 HK$400,000,000 of REER company
RERE HKS0.10 each and EREIAT
—EZRET-ATER issUed share capital of
HKS$167,895,494
SEEER400,000,00087
SRAEHIBTRERT
JRK167,895,49478 T
Wealthy Rise Intemational Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS1 100 - 100 Trading of polysiicon and Limited liability
21 June 2007 18T monocrystalline ingots/ company
E4 wafers/ photovolialc BREANE
ZERLERAST-H modules
BESRERERRRE/
Bh/ AR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1. RAIREEER @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEBARNER (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERE&LS
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AL/
HABERAH He /i 258N BARY  H-BNE
DLEL REgHY VG G (15 B5  0ARE  1EER R
% % %

Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic The PRC Registered and paid-in capital % - 96 Manufacturing of photovoltaic — Limited liabilty
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou 17 July 2009, of RMB140,000,000 modules company
Jinmao’) Mainland China HARRELER HERRAn ERERLT

BNFAERNRERAA e AE%140,000,0007
i) “ZRAELATLA

hER

Solargiga Energy (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKS1 100 100 - Trading of ingots/ Limited liability
Company Limited 13 June 2008 1A wafers/polysiicon company

BRER(EE)ER B and monocrystalin ERERLT
% “EE\ERBTZR photovoltaic modules

BEBER/ER/
SEERER/
xHhEH

Siicon Solar Materials Company ~Hong Kong HK$1 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability
Limited 26 November 2008 187 REER company

REREMRERAE B BRERLT

“RENE
t-A=t7H
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-ZT—R&E+-H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1. RAIREEER @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEBLARNER (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 3+l
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
HRAEL/
HUBERAH i/ AEEH mARE  h-BNE
ARER RiEEng B/ BafEs hEL 22} DNERE  IEER HEERA
% % %
Solargiga Energy (Qinghaj Co., Ltd.  The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 51 - 51 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liabilty
(“Qinghal") 31 December 2008, of RMBA0,000,000 monocrystaline ingots company
R (EBERLT Mainland China dRRELER REREEERER ERERLT
(&%) e AR#90,0000007
“EEN\E
tZR=t-H
hER
Sino Light Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Authorized capital of 100 100 - Investment holding Limited liability
2 December 2009 1S$500,000 of USS0.001 REER company
ABALEE each and issued share EREEAT
ZEENE capital of US$53,920
TZAZH EEER500,00087
ERABO00IZTR
BRTRAS3 020%T
You Xin Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability
HBREERAT 29 July 2009 10000087 REER company
B BREANE
“ZZAELACTAA
Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of ~ Limited liabilty
Technology Company Limited 23 October 2006, of RMB130,000,000 solar cells company
BNEE KRR Mainland China HRRESER HEREEARH ERERLT
ERAR HE AEH130,0000007 gt
ZEZRETASTER
el
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)
1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1. RAIREEER @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEBARNER (@)
Proportion of ownership interest
it L3
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AL/
HIBERAH e/ 58N BARY  H-BNE
ARER RiEEsg B/CRTEX RS b2:) AIBE  IEER EEFA
% % %
Jinzhou Solar Technology Company  The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing of solar Limited liability
Limited 18 August 2011, of RMB51,000,000 modules and import of company
SNEXABERE Mainland China AMRESER related equipments ERELT
BRAR e ARH51,0000007% HERBRANR
“Z—-EN\AtAR ENfEERE
hEA
Golmud Solargiga Energy Electric ~ The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 70 - 70 Operating of photovoltaic Limited liabilty
Power Company Limited 21 September 2011, of RMB100,000,000 power plants company
(‘Golmud”) Mainland China HRREHER AREALR
BEARERE e AEE100,0000007 EERHMEY
BRAE(HER]) i
HER
Jinzhou Xinyangguang Photovoltaic -~ The PRC Registered and paic-in capital 100 - 100 Construction of photovoltaic  Limited liabilty
Application Co., Ltd. * 24 September 2007, of RMB30,000,000 power plant company
(Xinyangguang’) Mainland China HMRESER BRAREL BRERLT
BIMFEE L RERERLT el AEH30,0000007
(I ]) ZERLEAACTRA
HER
Jinzhou Xinlin Solargiga Industrial -~ The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and Limited liability
and Trading 26 June 2014, of RMB100,000 solar modules company
Co., Lid. (“Jinzhou Xinlin®) Mainland China AMRESEAR BEABHENR ERERLR
HE ARE100,0007T Raat
ZE-MEREZHA
Gzl
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1. RAIREEER @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEBLARNER (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 3+l
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the bya
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
HRAEL/
HABHRAH i/ A5EH mARE  h-BNE
ARER RiEEng Bl/CRrER ERER 22} NBE  IEER EEFA
% % %

Jinzhou Jiuxin Solargiga Technology  The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and Limited liability
and Trading Co., Ltd. (*Jinzhou 26 June 2014, of RMB100,000 solar modules company
Jiuin’) Mainland China HMRESER BEXBHEHR BREALA

e ARH100,0007 Raas
“E-MERAZTAR
hEIRE

Delingha Solargiga Energy Electric ~ The PRC Registered capital of 100 - 100 Operating of photovoltaic Limited liability
Power Company Limited 1 September 2015, RMB30,000,000 and power plants company
(‘Delingha’) Mainland China paichin capital of ERERLE

] RMB5,000,000 SERRES
“2-1FNA-A &R AR 30,000,007
EIRE RESER
AK#5,0000007

Jinzhou Yangguang Motech The PRC Registered and paic-in capital 81 - 81 Manufacturing of photovoltaic - Limited liability
Renewable Energy 26 October 2015, of RMBG0,000,000 modules company
Co., Ltd ('Motech’) Mainland China HRRESER HEXRAR ERERLT

SRR ERERAR HE AEH60,0000007%

:2:)] “Z-RETACTAR
RER
¥ Jinzhou Wintek Silicon Material Co., Ltd was renamed as Jinzhou - REBE-Z-RF+-A=+—RALFEXR  HM
Xinyangguang Photovoltaic Application Co., Ltd. during the year ended MRBEEMBERA RS ARG L RER
31 December 2015. BRAF °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants(“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for available-for-sale investments which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by RMB395,314,000. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of RMB193,953,000
and short term bank loans, including current portion of long-term
bank loans of RMB1,931,849,000. The liquidity of the Group is
primarily depending on its ability to maintain adequate cash flows
from operations, to renew its short-term bank loans and to obtain
adequate external financing to support its working capital and meet
its obligations and commitments when they become due.

The Group has carried out a review of its cash flow forecast for the
twelve months ending 31 December 2016. Based on such forecast,
the directors believe that adequate sources of liquidity exist to fund
the Group’s working capital and capital expenditure requirements,
and to meet its short term debt obligations and other liabilities and
commitments as they become due in the twelve months ending 31
December 2016. In preparing the cash flow forecast, management
has considered historical cash requirements of the Group, as
well as other key factors, including anticipated sales in the twelve
months ending 31 December 2016, unutilized banking facility as at
31 December 2015 from the Group’s major banks with an amount
of RMB419,978,000 which will be expired on 31 December 2017
and an amount of USD20,436,000 (equivalent to RMB132,703,000)
which will be expired on 27 August 2016.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Based on the above factors, the directors are confident that the
Group will have sufficient funding to enable the Group to operate as
a going concern and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due for at least 12 months from the reporting date. Accordingly,
the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy
for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognizes
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus of deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognized
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment relevant to the
Group is described below:

(@ The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective for the
current year are as follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity
must disclose the judgments made by management in
applying the aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including
a brief description of operating segments that have
been aggregated and the economic characteristics
used to assess whether the segments are similar. The
amendments also clarify that a reconciliation is reported
to the chief operating decision maker. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group.

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and HKAS 38
Intangible Assets: Clarifies the treatment of gross carrying
amount and accumulated depreciation or amortisation
of revalued items of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. The amendments have had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not apply the revaluation
model for the measurement of these assets.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: Clarifies that a
management entity (i.e., an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a related party subject
to related party disclosure requirements. In addition,
an entity that uses a management entity is required to
disclose the expenses incurred for management services.
The amendment has had no impact on the Group as the
Group does not receive any management services from
other entities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective for the
current year are as follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that joint
arrangements but not joint ventures are outside the
scope of HKFRS 3 and the scope exception applies
only to the accounting in the financial statements of
the joint arrangement itself. The amendment is applied
prospectively. The amendment has had no impact on the
Group as the Company is not a joint arrangement and
the Group did not form any joint arrangement during the
year.

° HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: Clarifies that the
portfolio exception in HKFRS 13 can be applied not only
to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other
contracts within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 as
applicable. The amendment is applied prospectively from
the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 13
was initially applied. The amendment has had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not apply the portfolio
exception in HKFRS 13.

° HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies that HKFRS 3,
instead of the description of ancillary services in HKAS
40 which differentiates between investment property
and owner-occupied property, is used to determine if
the transaction is a purchase of an asset or a business
combination. The amendment is applied prospectively for
acquisitions of investment properties. The amendment
has had no impact on the Group as there was no
acquisition of investment properties during the year.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to
the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
relating to the disclosure of financial information with reference
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during
the current financial year. The main impact to the financial
statements is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2016 R-ZE—HF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 EHEMEMARERZERBMBRE
financial reporting standards ZEH|
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, AEE WA ZEHIEIRERER T 5 E EMHE
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial REMZIET REERT BB EIREEAR
statements.
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? BRMERELERENRE 2FHTAH?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi%—?— BIZE105E R REZ IR E
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its BRI 2855 En EZEﬁEtE
Associate or Joint Venture* :g——fﬁ IEHES Bl t &
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities: Applying the EBVIREERE109 - KEEE - BTHS
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception’ EBNBRELERFE 125, AKZAIMNEE
(2011) REBETHERIZE28
(ZZ——F)BFTA
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of BB REEL W R I E 1Y
Interests in Joint Operations? ERRLT AN AfR
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts? EBUIREERE145% EEELKE?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BEBVKIREERE15E KEEFEAZKA?
Customers?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative' EBSTHERFIRISII R HEE
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods BERSHERFE1EREE BEMERAEN A
and HKAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation ST EERIE IR ABRT A BEEZ A
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants’ EBETERIEIERER B . ZE2EY
and HKAS 41 SETERFEARIERT AR
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial RS ERE27H B BRFEANZE
(2011) Statements? (ZZB——F)BFIA vk
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of “E-_HRF-E-NF ETFEBUBHREE
20712-2014 Cycle HKFRSs! BHZFENE Bl Z 55T
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 1 R-B-—ARF—A— AR zEHRZFEHRBEN
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 2 R-ZB-NF-A—HYZEHRZEERBENR
3 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial 3 REZEBE-_Z—<F—A— AR ZEHRBZFE
statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not BBREPERNRAE BV BREERFER &K
applicable to the Group W ERARAER
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for 4 125 ST TE SR ol AR 2 B B T LABR AR
adoption.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

financial reporting standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS
9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project
to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an
interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation
constitutes a business must apply the relevant principles for
business combinations in HKFRS 3. The amendments also clarify
that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured
on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation
while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has
been added to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate
controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition
of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any
additional interests in the same joint operation. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

23 EEMEMRER ZBERBUBRSE

2B ()
EREREARAEE Y RS E SRR
E—SERIMT :

“E-MFENA BRSO SEAEBUBER
HEABOFRZHRERAE - KEMTHEBEZHME
BEEREN—EUARBE RS EREINREBY
B ELERN R 2 2 EEAMRA » ZERISIAD
BRFTE - BERFASHREZTRE - A5E
AHME=ZF-N\F— A -HBRAFTBHBRSEE
BIZEO5E o ANEE R ETEZER 2 E o

BBPHMELAE10RREB SR E 2855
(Z2——F) 2B H B BUBHRELRE 105
REBSFHEAE2S (=2 ——F) 2HAERRE
FHABERSENRACHCEERESTEME
BE2T—BER - ZZEBITHRE  EREZFRA
BERSE DR ZHANEELESUTERM —HHE
HE - AEDZBRERER - EXEFIRTEK
—BEBCEER  HZXZELEZWAREER
ZREE ZBBENER  EEUTHEREENZ
BERSE DR ZERAR - ZEETEEER -

BRI HMELNFIRBITRERABLE (AP
HERE ZEBER —HER) R 2 WEA LA
FEREBITKRELEREIFAELS G 2 HER
B - ZEBI NEBRARKE R ERIFE 2%
SR B E R K E AR & o 2 FASME R T AL [FHE I
ERBGNSEHNE - i BBUBREER
BURT/N—IREEIR - FTAEHZHEZS
E2&F (BE2RER) BRE—&KEHLT 2H
EEE 2T  ZZEITTER - ZE5ETEAR
W HESE 2R ED AR BBERRE LS H
ZERIMER - ZEETRMN -F—~F—A
— B BTIEHAEEPHRARRAE
LSRR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 &3 81



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 EHEMEMARERZERBMBRE

82

financial reporting standards (continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue
is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In September
2015, the HKICPA issued an amendment to HKFRS 15 regarding a
one-year deferral of the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1
January 2018. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 January
2018 and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon
adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.
The amendments clarify:

(i)  the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the
statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(i)  that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present
the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must
be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

financial reporting standards (continued)

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial
position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle in
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic
benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the
asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed
through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment
and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise
intangible assets. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1
January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-based method
for the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwiill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories
and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;
Or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TEE:HEME @)
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(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
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completion.
—  Plant and machinery 10 to 25 years - BER#E 10E 255
—  Other fixed assets 3to 5 years - HtEEEE 3FE54E

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on
a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Useful life of an asset, its residual value and the
depreciation method are reviewed annually.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BrBAERESIN - AAREEFIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses.

Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as interest
expenses capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction
in progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided in respect
of construction in progress until it is substantially ready for its
intended use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TEE:HEME @)
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(continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) (continued)
Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to

profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful
lives as follows:

B EE (BB @)
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- Patents 9 years - =7 9fF
—  Customer relationship 10 years - EFBE#& 106
-~ Customer contracts 1 year - BFEN 145
Leases A

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Leases (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property,
plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the statement
of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity investments classified
as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in other reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain
or loss is reclassified from other reserve to the statement of profit
or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

24 TESTBERME @)

RERHMBMHEE @)

BEATHEEENER D BHMBEENS - RE
Mo BAHMAFERAESFTHHRARE RN ER
BRI ZEE WM LRSS E RN RE R
FHUBRAZME RS o FEBERAEIPE
BENEMEBETINEENRERFHUBERA =8
# o MEEBRREERRE - ARNERRNREZ
SHEEHMOEEEER

FRIRERM B EE

BHEE(RER) MBEEN—HHREES
BEEARIN—BD) TBEUT BERERBRER
(B EARERE MR REABER) -

o BHEEWEESRENENCEW 5 =

. ZK%IEE‘; FHOEEWRBRERENE
» RERFEFRIE A | L EBEEARE
&%ﬁ?ﬂ SHEEEECWREESRE
R@AEEGEENEBRIB D @R R EHRE

E RO AEELEAZEENEARD R
NERERENRE - EEEREEREHE o

EXAEECEEAREERINRERENERNRE
AYRNZHE  AREFGEERERCREZEE
FRrAERERER R EHRARAARRE - EHEIEEER
ESN%%%Z‘!%FE’J@?(*“B@HW&@%&  INBEEZ
BEMNEEER  AEBEERICEREE
UAEERFHASERBR - E(\‘%ET%/R"F ' REE TR E
R-EEHEE CEREERZBHEBERER
MAEECRENEFNREENEETE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 3k 95



96

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
that loss event have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited in the statement
of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of
profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value
after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and other liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TEE:HEME @)

(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their
present values as appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2016 R-ZE—HF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Employee benefits
()  Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i)  Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, Taiwan and
Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
incurred, except to the extent that they are included in the cost
of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.

(i) ~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

()  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

(i) Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Construction contracts” below.

(i)  Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised as and when
the services are performed or rendered.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(v)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TEE:HEME @)

(continued)
Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the
costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised using
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost
of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use of sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research and development is charged to profit or
loss as an expense when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
However, the consolidated financial statements of the Group are
presented in RMB, as the directors of the Company consider that
the major subsidiaries of the Company are all presented in RMB
and meanwhile this presentation is more useful for its current and
potential investors. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of comprehensive income
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

Significant accounting judgments and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

(@  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. Management
reviews annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Both the period and methods of depreciation
are reviewed annually. The depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.

(b) Impairments of assets

Management reviews the carrying amounts of assets at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether there is
any objective evidence of impairment. When an indication of
impairment is identified, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value
in use, management prepares discounted future cash flows
to assess the differences between the carrying amount and
value in use and provides for impairment losses. Any change
in the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment losses and
affect the Group’s profit or loss and net assets value.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually even if there
has no indication of impairment.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful receivables are
assessed and provided based on the management’s regular
review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectability. A
considerable level of judgement is exercised by management
when assessing the credit worthiness and past collection
history of each individual customer. An increase or decrease in
the above impairment losses would affect the Group’s profit or
loss and net assets value.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

()

Impairment of prepayments to suppliers and provision for
onerous contracts

The Group makes non-cancellable advance payments to
raw material suppliers under purchase agreements which
are to be offset against future purchases. In the event when
the economic benefits expected to be received under these
purchase agreements are less than the unavoidable costs of
meeting the contractual obligations; or the financial conditions
of suppliers deteriorate, management will consider whether
such advance payments to suppliers are impaired and make
necessary provision for the present obligations under the
agreements. The Group does not require collateral or other
security against its prepayments to suppliers. Management
performs ongoing evaluations of impairment of prepayments
to suppliers and provisions for commitments that may
become onerous due to a change of market conditions and
the financial conditions of its suppliers. The evaluations take
into account the projected revenue, related expenses and
other costs. When the prepayments are not likely to be settled
as expected, the Group will make necessary provisions for
the present obligations under the agreements. Meanwhile,
provision for onerous contract will also be made when the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
purchase agreements exceed the economic benefits expected
to be received under it. An increase or decrease in the above
provisions would affect the Group’s profit or loss and net
assets value. Further details of the provision for impairment
of prepayments to suppliers and the provision for inventory
purchase commitment are given in note 18 and note 33 to the
financial statements respectively.

Write-down of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in technique and
competitors’ actions in response to adverse industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period. As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided
for write-down of inventories amounting to RMB18,659,000
(2014: RMB8,948,000).
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

()

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are transactions during the ordinary
course of business, for which calculation of the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences would affect profit or loss in future years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which related to tax
losses and deductible temporary differences, depends on
management’s expectation of future taxable profits that will
be available against which the tax losses or the asset can be
utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses and deductible temporary differences
at 31 December 2015 was RMB23,515,000 (2014:
RMB16,724,000). Further details are disclosed in note 31 to
the financial statements.

Provision for warranties

The Group provides warranties for its photovoltaic modules
for up to 25 years after sales have taken place. Due to limited
warranty claims history, management estimates warranty
based on the Group’s historical cost data, industry data
and an assessment of the Group’s competitors’ history of
warranty claims. The warranty obligation of the Group will
be affected not only by the product failure rates, but also by
costs incurred to repair or replace failed products. If the actual
product failure rates and the costs of replacement or repairing
of failed products differ from the estimates, the Group will
need to prospectively revise the provision for warranty which
would affect profit or loss in future years. Further details of the
Group’s provision for warranties are given in note 33 to the
financial statements.
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4. Operating segment information

AR E)
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In @ manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has identified four reportable segments: (i) the manufacturing
of, trading of, and provision of processing services for polysilicon
and monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers
(“Segment A”); (i) the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic
modules (“Segment B”); (iii) the manufacturing and trading of
monocrystalline silicon solar cells (“Segment C”) and (iv) the
construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants (“Segment
D”). No operating segments have been aggregated to form these
reportable segments. Comparative figures have been provided on a
basis consistent with the current year’s segment analysis. Revenue,
costs and expenses are allocated to those reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the costs and
expenses incurred by those segments.

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most
senior executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the basis as
they are presented in the Group’s financial statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference

to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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31 December 2015 R=T—AF+=-A=1+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)
4. Operating segment information (continueq) 4. ReEFFER @

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) @@ 2PIEE EEREEB®E
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as BE—_Z-—OHFR-ZF—MNF+t=-A=+—
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management HLEFERNAEEGESRITHEEASRMY
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is set out HERAEEAHREDBNERFIIMT
below:

Segment A Segment B Segment C Segment D Total

A 238 2ic 23D @it
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
SE-RE RS —2-7F EmESIil —I-7F EmESguiay —2-Hf RSy —2-ff Eeksgik
RMB'000 QGY{00OM RMB’000 RERIVENGUSEN RMB'000 WEVIS{VVOEN RMB'000 RRIYSX(OOEM RMB'000 RVIH0]
ARETT PGS ARETT WNGESOMN ARETT PNEvM ARYETT PGS ARYETT ENEEESH

Revenue from external RENREEL

customers Wi 514,706 488437 2,029,513 2,013,964 231,039 303,054 124,292 59,244 2,899,550 2,864,699

Inter-segment revenue AHEkE 489,985 544698 151,603 - 803928 601,834 4,194 6443 1449710 1,152,975

Reportable segment revenue EEEREL 1,004,691 1,033,135 2,181,116  2,013964 1,034,967 904,888 128,486 065687 4,349,260 4,017,674

Reportable segment (oss)/profit  A[#& 24

(5%8)/7B (54,806)  (115,504) 56,995 40,375 24,438 31,630 (10,186) (16,872) 16,441 (60,371)

Reportable segment assets RENTEE 2,765,716 2,390,987 875,852 825,976 651,655 741,175 419,544 322902 4,112,767 4,281,040

Reportable segment liabilties THREIHEE 1,927,495 1,772,078 997,789 654,291 340,066 459,904 284,554 218,749 3,549,904 3,105,022

Other segment information: Htha iR

Interest income from bank BRIERNFE

deposits WA 1,513 3,006 11,180 262 10,033 4,935 8 3 22,734 8,284

Finance costs BERAK (54,781) (48,425) (34,295) (40,268) (15,893) (16,474) (15,015) (16,194 ~ (119984)  (121,361)

Depreciation and amortisation  ER &S (147,975) (148,615 (11,567) (10,139 (34,848) (81,482 (10,961) (11,849 ~ (205351)  (202,089)

Share of profits less losses of ~ FEAREEZ A RFE

associates HER (13,093) (975) - - - - - - (18,093) (975)

Impairment losses ontrade and BB S BHRRE

other receivables thREKEERE
BRGHE - - - i - - - - - i
Impairment losses on FATRRATER
prepayments for raw materials BB %GR - (70,369) - - - - - - - (70,369)
Provision for inventory purchase ~ # & ER&ERE
commitments - (43,582) - - - - - - - (43,682)
(Write-down)/reversal of FEREN
write-down of inventories (H%) /&8 (9,711) 12,166 - - - - - - (9,711) 12,166

Capital expenditure® EREY 59,890 86,001 11,924 65,269 22,747 8717 1,990 461 96,551 160,448

Investments in associates BENANRE 59,721 72,731 - - - - - - 59,721 72,731

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EREXEERABEYE  BERRBUREREE -

equipment and intangible assets.
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4., KEDEER @)
(b) Geographic information (b) HEEFR
Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, AEBEYE - BMERRE  HEEMNRE -
lease prepayments, goodwill, intangible assets and interests in BME BFEERREEDRNERURH
associates are located or operated in the PRC. The following B RHELE - TREHBEAANEERE
table sets out information about the geographical location of SNREF B U R 2 IE T ED FE 13 5k I8 AT AE ith Y
the Group’s revenue from external customers and the Group’s BER - BRI URNE mRREREH
non-current prepayments. The geographical location of a b E R AR ©

customer is based on the location to which the goods were
delivered or the services were provided.

()  Revenue from external customers ) REIREFHWE

2015 2014

—E-RfF —E—NFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETR

The PRC (place of domicile) A AR (FEM b 2h) 912,646 642,457
Export sales HOHE

— Japan — B4 1,775,295 2,154,216

- Korea — g8 19,577 2,156

— Thailand — % 92,326 -

- Malaysia —ERAE: 11,114 -

— United States of America — % 10,946 3,116

— Mexico — 27 2,797 -

— Taiwan =) 73,803 49,818

— Germany e - 12,930

— Others —Hith 1,046 6

Sub-total NEF 1,986,904 2,222,242

Total et 2,899,550 2,864,699
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. KEHEER @)
(b) Geographic information (continued) (o) HEEFR ()
(i) Non-current prepayments (i)  FRETEAFIE
2014
—E-RF —ET-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
The PRC (place of domicile) FRER (REfm it 25) 54,784 26,653
Overseas countries BHEIR
— Germany — &R - 141,657
— Taiwan -8 75,167 77,043
Sub-total NET 75,167 218,700
Total Fab 129,951 245,353
(©) Information about major customers ) FEEFHESR
For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from major BE-—Z-—OF+=-A=+—HLEEE X
customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or more of the BXEEFHNE B2 KE10%5 U L
total revenue, are as follows: EHHIT
2015 2014
—E-FF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Customer A ZEA
— From segment A —REDILA - 22,342
— From segment B —REHEB 825,831 1,657,943
— From segment C —RBEDERC 196,266 249,876
Customer B ZFEB
— From segment B —REHIB 632,769 *
— From segment C —REDEC 15 *
Customer C ZEC
— From segment A —REDWMBA 35,615 *
— From segment B —REHIB 300,366 *
* The revenue from this customer was less than 10% of the total * RELEFHREDREWE10% °

revenue.
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

5. Revenue 5.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing,
trading and provision of processing services for polysilicon and
monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, the
manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar cells, the
manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules, the construction
and operating of photovoltaic power plants.

Revenue represents the sales value of goods and electricity supplied
to customers less value added tax or other sales taxes and trade
discounts and income from the provision of processing services.
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the year is as follows:

32

FEEEREBRRSREUARAGEEZRS &
B ERNRE  EERRMHSRENURKGRE
RRZEEE RN TRE  SLEREE B
EREEMR L RAFEEE R RS REY, -

WEEHETREFENREDNHEEBEORIEER
FEAMBET R E ST URE AT RIS
WA - FRERNERERBAERNSHNT ¢

2015 2014
—®-5F —E-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARMF 7T

Sales of polysilicon and monocrystalline and HEZRBERABREESR

multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers % @S TR 401,264 335,911
Sales of monocrystalline silicon solar cells SHEARIGREERESM 214,230 285,567
Sales of photovoltaic modules SHENXMRAMN 1,951,908 1,927,235
Construction and operating of photovoltaic MR AR R EB L

power plants 124,292 32,553
Rendering of services RS 207,856 283,433

2,899,550 2,864,699
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BrBAERESIN - AAREEFIE)

6. Other income and gains, net

6. HMWARWE  FE#E

2015 2014
—E-fHF —E-ImF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARBT T
Other income Hih g A
Government grants (note 32) BT B (BiEE32) 22,530 33,274
Interest income from bank deposits IRITERHFIE WA 22,734 8,284
Gains on debt remission by a supplier —REER R EENRE - 16,750
Others Hih 3,605 5,095
48,869 63,403
Other gains/(losses), net Htz (F58)  FE
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEWES (B518) B 2,725 (9,968)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HE&EY¥ - BENEZEUR LibHETE
equipment and land lease prepayment (note) FRENWRE S (BE) 358 (ME) 100,242 (5,866)
Gain from acquisition of a subsidiary W B — R M B R A9 UL &R - 1,705
(Losses)/gains from sales of other materials SHE HAA R (B518), ks (10,595) 723
92,372 (13,406)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed of the land
use right at Jinzhou City together with the factory premise and ancillary
structures established thereon (the “Land”) with net carrying value of
RMB43,783,000 to Jinzhou Land Reserve Center (the “Buyer”) at a cash
consideration of RMB182,620,000. The Group incurred a relocation cost of
RMB33,594,000 and passed the vacant possession of the Land to the Buyer
during the year ended 31 December 2015. This disposal resulted in a gain
on disposal of property, plant and equipment and land lease prepayment of
RMB105,243,000 recognised during the year ended 31 December 2015.
Consideration of RMB160,000,000 had been received during the year ended
31 December 2015 and the remaining balance of RMB22,620,000 was
recorded as other receivable as at 31 December 2015.

MfE -

BE_Z-—HEF+-A=+—HLFE  x&EE@HEMNT
TibfEER O ER ) HEREFES ARMYEAL3,783,000
THSEMNT L EARERERE EN TR ERKE
BEY(ZLH])  RERERARY182,620,0007T ©
AEERBE-Z—AF+t-A=+—HLFEHEE
£ EEB R ARY33,594,0007T 0 I @ B 5 R A L ity
CEERRE cWEHEELHENE  BERSZHEUR
T th i E B FRIE W A R#5105,243,0007T © MR EE
—E-RFE+-A=+-ALEEERARR - RKEARH
160,000,000 tEREBZE=—ZE—HF+-A=+—HILHF
ERWE - 825 AR%22,620,000tE=E—HE+=4
=+ —AREHEMERRE -
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

7. Profit/(loss) before tax 7. BREBIATFRIE (E58)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBEBRBAFE (BB (GTA) :
(crediting):
2015 2014
—ZT-EHF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
(@ Staff costs* (including directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (note 9))
@ BINK(BREESRFZTHABSEHM(HE))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 154,848 158,610
Contributions to retirement schemes BRIRETEIHR 26,275 23,945
181,123 182,555
2015 2014
—E-—RF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT
(b)  Auditor’s remuneration
b) Z=EEME
Audit services BB RIS 2,110 2,995
Tax services AL RS 67 71
Other services HAb RS 100 420
2,277 3,486
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)
7. Profit/(loss) before tax (continued) 7. BRBIATFRIE, (E58) @)

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARET

(c) Otheritems

) EAfthigE
Amortisation of lease prepayments THEFAN RS (FHEE17)

(note 17) 4,038 4,052
Depreciation* (note 14) e (MIFE14) 201,313 198,033
Provision for warranties* (note 33) 1R AR (MYEE33) 20,321 19,012
Operating lease charges — properties KEREST H - 1,240 1,238
Research and development costs MR BB A 68,510 74,364
Impairment losses on trade and other BN E 5 R R H A e R IE R &

receivables BERMEHR = 2,109
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEYE BENEZEUR T RS

plant and equipment and land lease JENEEN (RS EEEE

prepayment (100,242) 5,866
Cost of inventories sold* (note 22(b)) BEFERA (HEE22(0)) 2,403,240 2,263,287
Cost of service rendered? IR ALAR TS A Ac* 253,772 237,495

# Cost of inventories sold and cost of service rendered include # BE-_Z-RF+-A=1t—-HLEFEENCERE

RMB343,053,000 (2014: RMB326,589,000) for the year ended 31
December 2015, relating to staff costs, depreciation and provision
for warranties which amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above or in note 7(a) for each of these

types of expenses.

8. Finance costs

BARCEHBHERAEESBEIRAE - TER
1R B A R#343,053,000T (ZE—4E : AR
#5326,589,0007T) * ZRENTARZSETEER
T LSRR EET ()7 B B A S B IBAALE -

8. BMEMRA

2015 2014
—ZE—FEF —E-FE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Interests on bank and other loans wholly BREFAZHEBWRITR
repayable within five years HihEFHFE 124,561 120,524
Interests on bonds BEEFE - 8,550
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities not  FEIR A FERBRRVIERMBE BN
at fair value through profit or loss FIEF X #B5E 124,561 129,074
Less: interest expenses capitalised into W ERIRER R EME
construction in progress* 4,577 7,713
119,984 121,361

*

* BEERAERFNEE81%ET.49% (=T —F :
7.04%%8.32%) F LAE AL ©

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates of 6.81% to 7.49%
(2014: 7.04% to 8.32%) per annum.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 F£# 119



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= M5+

31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EERESTHRAEME
remuneration

RIE LR AR BB D BMFERBIZE383(1)@) ~ (b) * (©)
ROGUARAF(FEESRRER) RHIF2IET
HENFRESRESTHRASNMESNT :

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

as follows:
2015 2014
—E-hHEF —E—-OFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Fees we 336 380
Other emoluments: Hiui & -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREYFGE 3,345 3,309
Retirement scheme contributions BRETEIMERR 91 95
3,436 3,404
3,772 3,784
2015
—EB-RF
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions
BERFE -
)= 1193 BIRETE
we BYRIE R Foby
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARET T AR®T T AR%ETR
Executive directors HITES
Tan Wenhua (Chief Executive Officer) (i) :BEXXEFE(TEEZR) (i) - 1,183 18 1,201
Hsu You Yuan (i SRR (i) - 1,105 14 1,119
Tan Xin B - 450 32 482
Wang Chunwei TERE - 607 27 634
Independent non-executive directors FHIFHITES
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert K 96 - - 96
Fu Shuangye NEE 96 - - 96
Lin Wen (jii) PR3 48 - - 48
Zhang Chun R 96 - - 96
Total wst 336 3,345 91 3,772
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(Expressed in Ren

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (continued)

31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
minbi unless otherwise indicated) (R BBFEHEIN * LARKSIE)

9. EERBRSITHRAEME @

2014
—E-NE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
BEeHe -
R EARETE
we BTG R wet
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARET T

Executive directors HITES

Tan Wenhua BN E - 1,108 21 1,129
Hsu You Yuan (Chief Executive Officer) — #F#hk (1TEARE) - 1,257 13 1,270
Tan Xin & - 359 33 392
Wang Chunwei IER - 585 28 613
Independent non-executive directors BIEHTES

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEE 95 - - 95
Fu Shuangye HEE 95 - - 95
Lin Wen M 95 - - 95
Zhang Chun wE 95 - - 95
Total st 380 3,309 95 3,784
Note: B &E -

(i) Mr. Tan Wenhua was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 1 October 2015.

(i) Mr. Hsu You Yuan resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company
with effect from 1 October 2015.

(i)~ Mr. Lin Wen retired as independent non-executive director with effect
from 29 June 2015.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

() WBYERERZERAARATHRAR B=2—1H
F+A-RBEN -

(i) FFHREEBRERAARTHRAR  B=Z—HFT
B—HEBEH -

(i) MXEEREBIUFBTES B-FT—HFRA
—t+ABRER -

RER  TBESHIRSTRABT L EFTLZHR
EREBREEAHE -
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

10. Five highest paid employees 10. T ERESHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2014: FREERSFHEECE=8(ZZ—HNF : =
three) directors and the chief executive whose remuneration are BIEBERESTHAS  HENFHFHRH R
disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the remuneration in respect FBoMRTME(ZE—OF : MB)AFANTRES
of the remaining two (2014: two) highest paid employees who are RERSITHRAEBNRSHHMESWEHMAENT -

neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2015 2014
—E-FF —T-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B # 4 - 2R EYRIE 1,079 1,046
Retirement scheme contributions EIREH SRR 29 29
1,108 1,075
The remuneration of the remaining two (2014: two) highest paid BRTIME(ZZE—NE : MB)ReTMESHE
employees are within the following bands: BLATAER
2015 2014
—E-hHEF —E—F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AZ
Nil to HK$1,000,000 FZ1,000,00058 7T 2 2
11. Income tax 1. FREH
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or @ HFEBRRAMESHARX:

loss represents:

2015 2014

—B-HF —ZE—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBT T

Current tax - the PRC BENHAfiIE — p

Provision for the year FERE 9,508 11,191
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETR 386 1,780
9,894 12,971
Deferred tax (note 31) IEFER1E (MI5E31) (6,864) (17,802)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FERESHESX (ER) 3,030 (4,831)
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

11. IS8 @)
RAAARELADSHEADTEMER (R
FEEE ) £ B R E R ATRF
(F518) MBIEMY  (E®)  EIREERH
EHEWPIENY (K HENT :

11. Income tax (continued)

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/ (b)
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries (or
jurisdictions) in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) at the
effective tax rates, are as follows:

2015 2014
—E—F1F —E—-MF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELAIFIS,(E8) 19,471 (65,202)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEAEM R ENRIE 4,868 (16,301)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses THHB T HNHRESE 3,100 1,777
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAMBRANRE = (426)
Effect of tax rates differential (note (i) TR RMSZ (HFE>) (2,174) 10,707
Effect of tax concessions obtained FrERISEENSE (k)
(note (ii)) 10,578 (10,970)
De-recognition of deferred tax liabilities in -~ BUEHERRBEFE KD EAEN
respect of previous years’ undistributed EERIEE R
profits - (1,017)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and i R AR E A IEE B R
temporary differences not recognised TR E AN 26,710 33,350
Utilisation of unused tax loss and temporary &) FiBEERE M REZH
differences not recognised in previous REARIBEERERELRE
years (40,438) (23,731)
Under-provision in respect of prior years BAEFEREBETR 386 1,780
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group effective BAREBERBRTENHERS
rate €33 3,030 (4,831)
Notes: Pf=E

()

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits of the Company’s subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong during the year. No provision for
Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong either did not have any assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax or had accumulated
tax losses brought forward from previous years to offset the
assessable profits for the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and the Cayman Islands are not subject to any
income tax pursuant to the local rules and regulations of their
respective countries of incorporation.

FRBBANGHRIZAATDNEBIMARILL
MR A BB st EER BRI 16.5% (=&
— U 1 16.5%) 5T E - AREBEMR LK
Bt/ A R AT T FE AN B B RIS R A FERR
BAER B E AR Rt HEE 18 A K 8
FREZHFE  MASBELBEBNEHRE
& o

AARARERKBRELHSRHASHEEM
R ORI D R ARIEH K B MR LB R
Eith R B R SR B R R EAFREBE
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31 December 2015
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

11. Income tax (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary
incorporated in Germany is 15% for the year ended 31 December
2015 (2014: 15%). No provision for the German income tax has
been made as the subsidiary incorporated in Germany did not
have any taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014 Nil).

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary
incorporated in Ghana is 35% for the year ended 31 December
2015 (2014: 35%). No provision for the Ghana income tax has
been made as the subsidiary incorporated in Ghana did not have
any taxable profits for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
Nil).

The income tax rate of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%
except for the subsidiaries mentioned below:

Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (“Yangguang”) has been
accredited as “High and New Technology Enterprise” by the
relevant government authority in 2012 for a term of three years,
and has been registered with the local tax authority to be eligible
to a reduced income tax rate of 15%. Yangguang has renewed
the “High and New Technology” certificate in 2015 effective for
the three years from 2015 to 2017. Accordingly, Yangguang is
subject to the 15% income tax rate for 2015 and 2014.

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Ltd (“Jinzhou
Huachang”) has been accredited as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 2014 for a
term of three years, and has been registered with the local tax
authority to be eligible to a reduced income tax rate of 15%.
Accordingly, Jinzhou Huachang is subject to the 15% income tax
rate for 2015 and 2014.

Golmud Solargiga Energy Electric Power Co., Ltd. (“Golmud”)
was entitled to a tax holiday of a 3-year full exemption followed
by a 3-year 50% reduction income tax rate commencing from
1 January 2011. Accordingly, Golmud is subject to the 7.5%
income tax rate for 2015 and 2014.

12. Dividends

The board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2015 (2014 Nil).
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

13. Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to

equity holders of the Company

(@) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit/(loss) attributable to the ordinary equity
holders of the Company of RMB15,653,000 (2014: loss of
RMB63,846,000) and the weighted average of 3,211,780,566
(2014 3,211,780,566) ordinary shares of the Company in issue
during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

14. Property, plant and equipment

Construction

13. A D RERKFEABGERER,

14.

in progress Buildings

fHRIE

27

RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR

(E58)

@ BREARERN (EIE)
BREARERN (BE) DRBERAQTELE
BEZEEAEGRBE (BE) AR
15653000 C (ZE—UF : BHIEARKE
63,846,0007C) AR FRAARA B E BITEBR
IR IR E3,211,780,5668% (=B — U4 :
3,211,780,566/% ) 5T & °

b) ER#HERF (EE)
RBZEZ-_Z—RFR-_Z-WNFE+=-A
=+—HLEEE RAFLEEEHENC
BATZEMR -

M= - BERRE

Plant,
machinery
£ Motor Furniture
equipment vehicles  and fittings Total
HE - #e XAR
k&t RE BEXE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cost: B
At 1 January 2015 RZE-1F-F-H 258,179 404,356 2,203,264 23,831 22,857 2,912,487
Exchange adjustments ERAE - - - - 162 162
Additions RE 69,263 16,269 9,234 968 817 96,551
Disposals e (67,181) (52,224) (195,718) (749) (40) (815,912)
Transfer 2] (216,432) 89,783 126,649 - - -
At 31 December 2015 R-E-RFE+-A=1-AH 43,829 458,184 2,143,429 24,050 23,796 2,693,288
Accumulated depreciation and RHRERBESE

impairment losses:
At 1 January 2015 R-E-1F-F-H (67,181) (60,833) (777,750) (18,919) (19,028) (943,711)
Exchange adjustment ENHZ - - - - 123 123
Depreciation for the year EERE - (16,482) (181,637) (1,263) (1,931) (201,313)
Written back on disposals HERRRE 67,181 4,146 176,285 102 30 247,744
At 31 December 2015 R-B-1E+=A=t+-A = (73,169) (783,102) (20,080) (20,806) (897,157)
Net book value: BRERME
At 31 December 2015 R-Z-RE+=-A=+-H 43,829 385,015 1,360,327 3,970 2,990 1,796,131
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31 December 2015 R-ZT—R&E+-H=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

AR E)

14. ¥ ~ BERRE @)

Plant,
machinery
Construction and Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings  equipment vehicles  and fittings Total
HiE - He FER
ERIE BT & AE BEE#E &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TRT ARBTR AR®TR AR%TR AR%Tx
Cost: BA:
At1 January 2014 R-E-mE-A—H 152,843 397,412 2,222128 24,672 21,3900 2,818,445
Exchange adjustments B A% - - - - 8 8
Acquisition of a subsidiary WM B AR - - 42 66 64 172
Additions hE 120,238 1,181 12,498 591 1,460 135,968
Disposals HE (28,242 - (17,301) (1,498) (65) (42,106)
Transfer = 8,340 5,763 (14,103) - - -
At 31 December 2014 R-E-ME
+=A=+-8 258,179 404,356 2,203,264 23,831 22,857 2,912,487
Accumulated depreciationand B HTERFEESE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-mE-A—-A - (41,933) (678,734) (17,024) (16,067) (753,758)
Exchange adjustments EHmE - - - - (6) ©)
Depreciation for the year FEWNE - (18,900) (172,800) (3,318) (3,015) (198,033)
Written back on disposals HERF R T - - 6,603 1,423 60 8,086
Transfer 24 (67,181) - 67,181 - - -
At 31 December 2014 R-Z-mF
+ZB=1+-H (67,181) (60,833) (777,750) (18,919 (19,028) (943,711)
Net book value: BEEE:
At 31 December 2014 R-Z-mF
+=A=1+-8 190,998 343,523 1,425,514 4912 3829 1,968,776

R-ZZE—H2F+-_A=+—H xEEE T
ERTEEDUAEERAFELEARYE
593,254,000t (ZFE—MFE+=-A=+—H ' AR
#£210,854,0007T) (9 T Y%  BE KRB EEIRA
(BffzE28) °

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing
bank borrowings were secured by certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment (note 28), which had an aggregate net book
value of RMB593,254,000 (31 December 2014: RMB210,854,000).
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is
located in the PRC.

The Group has yet to obtain property ownership certificates for
certain buildings included in property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate net book value of RMB285,045,000 as at 31 December
2015 (31 December 2014: RMB190,743,000). Notwithstanding this,
the directors are of the opinion that the Group owned the beneficial
title to these buildings as at 31 December 2015.

Property, plant and equipment leased out under operating
leases

The Group leases out a limited portion of land and buildings under
operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of five years,
with an option to renew the leases upon expiry at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

14. Y% - BERRE @)

REBERBOWE - BMERREIIURTE -

AEEMARESETHAYE  BERRENET
NWEBFERESE N-ZE—HF+=-A=+—H"
ZEBFHIREFELFER ARK285,045,0007T
(Z2—E+=HA=+—H : AR%190,743,000
L) o A BEERAH  AEER_Z—HF+=
BE=1+—HHEZESETNERERE -

RBLEHELRENYR BERKRE

AEBRBEEHEHBB PR D L RET - Z
ZHE-RAYEF  IRERFRESEES
FBEGRZEREERENES - ZZHEXTEE
FAREE o

AEERET A RESEHITRUNARRERE
FABFEWT

2015 2014

—g-%HF —=-mF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®T T

Within 1 year —FR 117 117
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHEREER 185 301
302 418
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

15. Intangible assets 15. BILEE

Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
EFRF BEFEH - e

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR¥TT ARBT R AR®TT

Cost: AR :
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 R-ZE-HF-A—-HRK

+=-A=+—H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869
Accumulated amortisation and KB RRERESE

impairment losses:

At 1 January and 31 December 2015 A—ZE-AF-A—-AK

+ZBA=+-H (185,230) (2,411) (67,228) (254,869)
Net book value: BRMEHE :
At 31 December 2015 R-Z—RF
+=RA=+-8H - - - -
Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
EFB% BEFEH =R i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Cost: AR

At 1 January and 31 December 2014 RIBE-NE-F—-BR
+=BA=+-H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869

Accumulated amortisation and R EBERAERSE -
impairment losses:

At 1 January and 31 December 2014 R-E-ME-A—-BK

+=A=+-8 (185,230) (2,411) (67,28) (254,869)
Net book value: IREFE
At 31 December 2014 R-Z-—lEF

t=p=t-8 - - - -
The intangible assets were fully impaired during the year ended 31 EBREECREE-Z——Ft-A=t—HLF
December 2012. ERERE
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

16. Goodwill 16. &
2015 2014
—E-RF —Z2—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Cost: KA :
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+ZA=+—H 208,237 208,237
Accumulated impairment losses: EETEERE -
At 1 January and 31 December W—A—BKkR+=—A=+—H (208,237) (208,237)
Carrying amount: BRTEE :
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H - -
The goodwill was fully impaired during the year ended 31 December BEENBE-_Z——-F+-A=+—HLEFER
2012. SURE ©
17. Land lease prepayments 17. THEERARE
2015 2014
—E-RfF —E—-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Cost: 5%
At 1 January w—B—H 153,894 129,586
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 19) WeiE — R B A = (FiEE19) - 18,231
Additions "E - 6,077
Disposals HeE (16,700) -
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 137,194 153,894
Accumulated amortisation: Rty
At 1 January H—HA—H (15,293) (11,241)
Amortisation for the year FREeE (4,038) (4,052)
Written back on disposals H e B ] 2,337 -
At 31 December A+—A=+—8H (16,994) (15,293)
Net book value: BRENFE ©
At 31 December W+=—B=+—8 120,200 138,601
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31 December 2015
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

17. Land lease prepayments (continued)

18

Lease prepayments represent the payments made on the
acquisitions of the lands held under operating leases mainly for
production plants. All the lands are located in the PRC with lease
period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing
bank borrowings were secured by certain of the Group’s lease
prepayments (note 28), which had an aggregate net book value of
RMB20,107,000 (31 December 2014: RMB6,146,000).

Prepayments for raw materials

In order to secure a stable supply of polysilicon materials, the Group
entered into short-term and long-term contracts with certain raw
material suppliers and made advance payments to these suppliers
which are to be offset against future purchases. Prepayments for
raw materials where the Group expects to receive the raw materials
more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are
classified as non-current assets and to receive within one year
are classified as current assets. There is no prepayment for raw
materials made to a related party as at 31 December 2015 (31
December 2014: RMB4,561,000).

As at 31 December 2014, management reassessed the
prepayments for potential impairment and identified one of the
suppliers, from which the Group failed to purchase the agreed
quantities of polysilicon under the long-term supply contract, and
therefore provided a provision of RMB70,369,000.

Based on the updated assessment by management for the year
ended 31 December 2015, no further impairment or reversal of
impairment was made during the year ended 31 December 2015.
The movement in the impairment provision during the year merely
represented exchange adjustments.
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17.

18.

T A EFENSFE @

RN AR BN C S AR E TR E Tk
EERE RRG LH FTEH GT R o FTE L1
RAE - EBB50E o

R-B—FE+-A=+—0 xEEETFER
TREE T AL B REFELEE A KY20,107,000
T(ZE—ME+=-A=+—H : AK#¥6,146,000
7C) AR ST FRIE R IR (ff7E28) ©

FEHRFR N RIE

AERERES REFEMBGE - AEEEE TR
MRHMERERIRT SRR RGN mZEHERX
NEANRIE  ZEHEERARBERIEH - A&
EESNBENBEEER R T —EA U ETIER
MEHEMBENRIBD BRIFRDEE - Wi —
FREEEMBHNEMHENRESBARDE
E-R-Z2-—HF+-A=1t—H HEINSTH
BLHNEMBEANRR(ZE-—NFE+-A=+—
H : AR%4,561,0007T) °

NZE-—NE+=A=+—H EEECHBELR
BRBERBEEHEHTE  WEBIAEP—BH
B AEERERERAMESHOHEBEEE
HENZHE  WHEIEEH ARY70,369,000TH
B4 o

BEEEENBE-Z-—AF+T-A=+—HLF
EEHNME  RB8E=Z-AF+=-A=+—H
L ERERREE — SRR AR TRE - F
NRERBRZBERELRAE -
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)
19. Business combination 19. K5 0f
2015 —E—Ah%F
There is no business acquisition for the year ended 31 December BE-Z—HF+-A=+t—HLEEHERE
2015. 55 o
2014 —E—F

On 3 March 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in

Jinzhou Wintek Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. (“Wintek”)

parties at a total cash consideration of RMB15,000,000, in oder to
utilise the advantage of vertical integration and expand the business
of end users. In September 2015, the company name of Wintek was
renamed as Jinzhou Xinyangguang Photovoltaic Application Co.,

Ltd. (“Xinyanggaung”).

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and

R-ZE-NOF=A=0  AEEUREREESHA
R #515,000,0007T @ M & 5 = 77 B SR N U4 &
EMEARA R (TXEE ) HI100% s - LEE
EH-BHNEZREZEBNKRAS - R=F
—RFENA  XEBEENAREBE BRIMMHAEK
HKRERBRAT ([FHEEH D) o

from two third

REBEY  WEHASENEEREENTE

)
liabilities on the acquisition date: T
Recognised
fair values on
acquisition
W BB TR EE Y
AREE
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) M - BERRE (HEE14) 172
Lease prepayments (note 17) HEBAFRIE (EFE17) 18,231
Inventories FE 5,878
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R R H AR RIE 37,097
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEZEY 188
Trade and other payables BB S RARAMENRIE (41,685)
Current tax payable ENEAFE( BB (187)
Deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value WERA T EREEENELHEEE
adjustment on acquisition (note 31) (BzE31) (2,989)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities RAEEREERE 16,705
The total cash consideration BESNE 15,000
Less: the Group’s 100% share of the net identifiable & : ANEEL BB AT EER
assets and liabilities acquired S EFE100% 16,705
Net gain from acquisition of a subsidiary (note 6) i B B BB B U35 R 4 (B 3E6) (1,709)
Net cash outflow* BERHFE" 4,312
* The consideration was partially paid by RMB4,500,000 for the year * BE-_Z-—NE+-A=1+—-—HLEE FEEX

ended 31 December 2014. The remaining balance of consideration
amounting to RMB10,500,000 was fully settled during the year ended

31 December 2015.

2B RELFEE ARK4,500,0007T ° KEEREE
AR#10,500000tERBZE-ZTE—HF+=-A
=+—HLEFERIBHLMS -
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

19.

20.

Business combination (continued)

The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are
their estimated fair values. The fair value of lease prepayments made
for the land held under operating leases recognised as result of the
business combination is based on its market values.

The net gain from acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess
of the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date over the fair value
of the consideration to be transferred, and has been recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Wintek contributed RMB49,474,000 to the consolidated revenue
and RMB405,000 profit to the consolidated loss for the year from
the date of acquisition to 31 December 2014. If the acquisition
had taken place at 1 January 2014, the Group’s consolidated
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2014 would have been
RMB2,864,701,000 and the Group’s consolidated loss for the year
would have been RMB65,546,000.

Investments in associates

19. ¥ &5 6t@)

W AN EERBBENEBENHMGT AT
B - BXBEHMBERNERERETHE LBE
HOHERNFERNAPELDERETHE °

WEE R A B R BRSNS S FE B B B AT
AENAHNEEREENAFEFERLEET
EZENARENATENEE - X REERERT
ﬁﬁam °

HWEASREZE—E—NE+-A=+—HAHH -
MR ERGEEEERFAGRESBESNERAR
#549,474,0007T & F;E A K #405,0007T © i W i
R-ZE—NF—A—H#4LE  FEEEZE-_Z—T
F+-A=+T-—HBLFENGREEEERFALR
SBEEED BB ARY?2,864,701,0007T & A R#E
65,546,0007T °

0. REFE QR RNIRE

Share of net assets

I EEFE

2015 2014
—g-H% —s-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBF 5

59,721 72,731
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

20. Investments in associates (continued) 20. REEE N TINIRE @)
The following list contains the particular of the associates, which are TREIIBE QA RNFE  HRFLTARER

unlisted corporate entities:

Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Form of establishment and Registered and attributable
Name of associate business structure  business paid-in capital  to the Group  Legal form
F5E
AL R EihEEE
HENE AR EBEBT A E 5 AMREHER Btk EEERA
% %
Jinzhou Aoke New Incorporated The PRC/ RMB200,000,000 37 Manufacturing and
Energy Co., Ltd. (‘Aoke”) By a Mainland China A &#?200,000,0007T processing of
BMETS IR FE/ HEIR multicrystalline ingots/
BRAR(TRR]) wafers
HERNIZ&
BE R
Jinzhou Chengguang Incorporated The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 49 Construction of photovoltaic
New Energy Technology By Mainland China AR #10,000,0007T power plants
Co., Ltd. (“Chengguang”) FEHEIR BEKXRE
RN FTRRRHE
BRAT (K]
All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity Fali IR E A RIFE ARRER G MBERERA
method in the consolidated financial statements. ABR ©
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

20. Investments in associates (continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associates,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed below:

Gross amounts of the associates’ BENTBERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Current assets nBEE
Current liabilities i IN=A
Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Net assets BEEFE
Revenue Wz

Loss for the year FEERE

Total comprehensive income 2HERALLE

Reconciled to the Group’s interests in HEAREBREE QT

the associates R

Gross amounts of net assets of the BE N REEFERARE
associates

The Group’s effective interests rEEERES

The Group’s shares of net assets of the ~ AREERE(L = A 7]
associates EEFE

Unrealised profits on downstream THRZHARSRFE
transactions

Carrying amounts in the consolidated SEMBRRAEREE
financial statements

20. REFE N TINRE @)
IEMEATANNRER B ECENEH REER
PERRSANEBEAROEHEARENT ;

Aoke Chengguang
2015 2014 2015 2014
—B-EF —E-ImEF —E-HEF —Z-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBF T

319,578 346,392 40,948 40,949
55,567 184,253 1,112 5,110
(177,857) (86,364) (32,087) (36,076)
(46,983) (258,602) - -
150,305 185,679 9,973 9,983
40,817 6,359 = -
(35,374) (2,613) (10) (17)
(35,374) (2,613) (10) (17)
150,305 185,679 9,973 9,983
37% 37% 49% 49%
55,613 68,701 4,887 4,892
= (83) (779) (779)
55,613 68,618 4,108 4,113

21. Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets represent the deductible input value-
added taxes (“VAT”) that are not expected to be utilized within one
year. These deductible input VATs are arisen from the purchases of
the property, plant and equipment for a photovoltaic power plant,
which are eligible for deduction within the whole life of the power
plant in Mainland China.
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

22. Inventories 22. 78

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial (@ #HERBRRERAETESRE
position comprise:

2015 2014

—ZT-HF —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETT

Materials and supplies MRIR AR 363,766 330,136

Finished goods B A 268,063 373,345
Less: Write-down of inventories to net B FEMBZEUEREE

realisable value (18,659) (8,948)

613,170 694,533

(o) The analysis of the amount of inventories sold is as (b)) EENTFESEINUT :
follows:

2015 2014
—E-AfF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFENREE 2,393,529 2.275,453
Write-down of inventories FE MR 9,711 -
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMRBNERD - (12,166)
2,403,240 2,263,287

23. Trade and bills receivables 23. EWE SRR KR EE
2015 2014
—E-EHfF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Trade receivables FENE 5 R 566,277 291,159
Bills receivables EWEE 38,472 15,713
Less: impairment B ORE (25,813) (24,445)
578,936 282,427
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

23. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 23. EWE SRR EE @)
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of allowance REERBHEER  HIRRRBHEENERE ZER
for doubtful debts) at the end of reporting period based on invoice MREENRRIREZEARSMWT ¢

date is as follows:

2015 2014
—T-EHF —Z-MmF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTR
Within 1 month —@EA R 244,847 155,326
1 to 3 months —Z={88 209,479 34,210
4 to 6 months mZE & B 51,004 23,711
7 to 12 months +Z=+—{@A8 15,387 7,835
Over 1 year HBiB—F 58,219 61,345
578,936 282,427
The Group normally allows a credit period of 30-90 days to its AEBE—RATEFE0ANEES -
customers.
The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year FRREREZENT :

are as follows:

2015 2014

—E-RfF —E-mF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBTT

At 1 January w—B—H 24,445 22,623
Exchange adjustments E % 1,368 (287)
Impairment losses recognised [REiEVREE=FS = 2,109
At 31 December WR+=-—A=+—8” 25,813 24,445
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

23. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 23. EWEZBRRAREE @)
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are neither I AE B K H FE R R BRENERE SRR R
individually collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: HIERER DTN :
2015 2014
—ZT-HF —ZT—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARET
Not past due R ngt 445,250 169,451
Less than 1 month past due BELR—@EA 37,749 17,460
1 to 3 months past due B —Z=E8 18,807 23,777
4 to 6 months past due BHANZE < E B 23,869 9,219
7 to 12 months past due BHtZE+={@A 12,271 20,882
Over 1 year past due B8 —F U 40,990 41,638
578,936 282,427
As at 31 December 2015, bills receivables had been pledged as R-ZE-HAF+-A=+—H EREBEARY
security to a bank for issuing bills payable to suppliers amounting to 24,500,000t (Z=F—ME+=-A=+—H : AR
RMB24,500,000 (31 December 2014: RMB10,000,000). #£10,000,0007T) BIKIF FIRITIEA BT EHE

BNREERR o

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number BB REENERREEASESZRETRY
of customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based AECHENEFERE - RENILESH  HREEE
on past experience, management believes that no impairment ZWEBANE  BRBZEEHRNTE2EWE -
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been EEEBMEEEERZEEMTHRAERE - X&E
a significant change in credit quality and the balance are still WP 2L AT R AR S o

considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.
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31 December 2015 R-ZT—R&E+-H=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)
24. Prepayments, deposits and other 24, ERFRIE - BERHEMEWRKIE
receivables
2015 2014
—E-RfF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBF T
Prepayments for raw materials BEAM R B FIE 272,616 3,689
Deductible value-added tax AR E R 259,985 233,018
Other receivables HAupE (I FRE 51,533 243,384
584,134 480,091

None of the above assets is either past due or impairment. The
financial assets included in the above balances related to receivables
for which there were no recent history of default.

EEERBEPRREE - LSRR EHEEWRR
RN M E BN W B R T o

25, Available-for-sale investments 25 AMftHERE

2015 2014
—E-RF —ZT—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value: FLEMRARE  RAFHE
In Mainland China B A 3 123,942 -
123,942 -

Available-for-sale investment was financial products purchased
from bank with principal guaranteed and floating interests. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the change in fair values of
the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to RMB4,443,000 (2014: Nil).
The maturity date of available-for-sale investments with the carrying
amount of RMB64,356,000 is 8 April 2016, and the maturity date of
the investments with the carrying amount of RMB59,586,000 is 21
April 2016.
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AHHERERRRTHEENREASRER  2H
FEANE - BE—E-—RF+-A=+—HLHE
B AEEREMEERETREINTHEERE
ARBEZEHHARKES443,0007T (= F— M4 :
&) c HPREEA AR%64,356,0007T #9 A £ H
EREFHPEA-ZT—"FENANE  REABAA
R #50,586,000 TR ER AR =T —~FMNA
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

26. Pledged deposits

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure bank
loans and other banking facilities granted to the Group as follows:

26. BIEHER

AEEE TRITFAERAEBMERWRITERR
HABRITREF LIRS - MIWT -

2015 2014

—E-RF —E-mEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET

Pledged as security for bank loans KIFEABRTERNERR 439,171 144,116
Others Hit 2,000 1,694
459,171 145,710

27

The effective annual interest rate for pledged deposits with banks
was 2.39% for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 2.55%).

Cash and cash equivalents

BE_Z-AF+-B=+—HLFE SEHKTF
RITNEARNERFANRE230E(ZF—MF :
2.55[E) °

27. BERBEEEY

2015 2014
—g-RF —Z-mF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR¥ETR

Cash and bank balances BERIRTHER

193,953 195,257

Cash and bank balances totalling of RMB77,943,000 (31 December
2014: RMB67,869,000) as at 31 December 2015 is denominated
in RMB. The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RIB-—HF+-A=1+—HHNBESRBITEHA
R#77,943,000t (ZE—ME+=-A=+—H :
AR#67,869,00070) LA RKESIE - ARERT
BREIBRAEME - AW - REPEIMNESHIE
BIRERE EERNESERE » NEBEIES
BIFRERITIEA R IREINE LUETTINEZETR ©

RITRERIE A BRITFFIRZF B F) = FREUF
B BHEHFRHMRA-—RE=EA  BFEE
EM AR S FRME - WA EHERFR
MZRIAL - VRITERREERFREFALE
W R B ERRFHRIT o
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

28. Interest-bearing borrowings

Effective
interest
rate (%)
ERA=E

*EH i (%)
Current; nE:
Bank loans - secured BAIEH-HER @ 1.31-5.6
Bank loans - guaranteed BITER-CER (o) 2.276-9
Current portion of long-term REEENRETD

borrowings

Bank loans - secured BAEH-HER @ 6.15
Bank loans - guaranteed BAEH-CER () 5.5-6.05
Third parties - guaranteed F=F-BER () 3.3
Total CH
Non-current: FRE:
Bank loans - secured RITER-HHE @ 6.15
Bank loans - guaranteed BITER-CER (o) 5.5-7.748
Third parties - guaranteed F=H-CER (o) 3.3-6.15
Total CH

(@ The bank borrowings are secured, among which
RMB121,430,000 (2014: RMB114,425,000) was
secured by available-for-sale investment with its fair
value of RMB123,942,000 (2014: other receivables of
RMB119,500,000) and the remaining RMB848,946,000 (2014:
RMB295,953,000) was secured by certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and land lease prepayment
with the net book value of RMB613,361,000 (2014:
RMB210,854,000).

(o) Certain subsidiaries’ borrowings are guaranteed by other
subsidiaries of the Group.
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28. ;tEBE

2015
“E-1F

Maturity

il

2016
2016

2016
2016
2016

2017-2027

2014
—E-mF
Effective
interest
RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
1 il
ARETL (%) I8 AR%TR

764,376 356 2015 188,378
1,110,109  15077-84 2015 1,005,310
12,000 6.4 2015 8,000
45000  6.4-7.748 2015 218500
364 - - -
1,931,849 1,420,188
194,000 64 20162027 214,000
33,000  6.4-7.748 2016 50,000

2017
2017-2020

121,144 3.3-6.15  2016-2020 121,872

348,144 385,872

IRITEERFIRIE » Hh ARME121,430,000
T(ZZE—MF : AR¥114,425,0007T) AR
TEAARB123,942,0007T (=8 —WE :
H B U TR A R #119,500,000 7T ) Y 77 4
HEREFEA » Hik A R%848,946,000
T(=ZZ—F : AR%¥295953,0007) K
REBREFEAARG613,361,000T (=
T—OF . AR¥210,854,0007T) B9 & T
ME - BMERREUR T B EFENSFREE
A o

ETHEARNEEDHARBEEMHELQ
BIIRMIELR o
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

28. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued) 28. it EEE @)

2015 2014
—E-—hfF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET

Analysed into: DA

Bank loans repayable: BEFEBENRITER
Within one year or on demand —FERFIRER 1,931,485 1,420,188
In the second year -t 48,000 61,001
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B=ZhTF  SREEME 64,000 57,000
Beyond five years BBARFE 115,000 145,999
2,158,485 1,684,188
Other borrowings repayable: AFEENHEMEE :
Within one year —FR 364 -
In the second year E_—F 120,364 727
In the third to fifth years, inclusive R=FHF  BEEEMT 780 121,091
Beyond five years BBRF - 54
121,508 121,872
2,279,993 1,806,060
29. Trade and bills payables 29. ENESZRREEE

2015 2014
—B-REF —T-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETR
Trade payables EAEZERER 558,200 755,411
Bills payables EBNEE 241,048 51,067
799,248 806,478
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31 December 2015 R-ZT—R&E+-H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

29. Trade and bills payables (continued)

(@) The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables at the end of
the reporting period based on invoice date is as follows:

20. EHEZRA R ZE @)

(@) MEEHELEER BUEZRIREEH
IRECERBEABAOMAT ¢

2015 2014

—E—RfF —E-mEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBT T

Within 1 month —@EAR 404,101 438,036
1 to 3 months —Z=188 40,532 166,187
4 to 6 months 9z 75 {E8 B 274,617 125,482
7 to 12 months +tZ+=@A 27,626 65,669
Over 1 year BB—F 52,372 11,104
799,248 806,478

(b) As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s bills payables of
RMB24,500,000 (31 December 2014: RMB10,000,000) was
secured by Group’s bills receivables of RMB24,500,000 (31
December 2014: RMB10,000,000) (note 23).

30. Other payables and accruals

b)) R=ZB—HE+=A=+—H TxEFAR
#£024,500,000t (ZE—ME+ A=+ —
BH : AR#10,000,0007T) I FEFH 245 AR E
B AR¥24,50000t(ZE—MNE+ =4
=+—08 : AE#10,000,0007t) HWEKEE
{EIRAR (MiEE23) ©

30. Ht BN RIA R ERTBIX

2015 2014

—E-AfF —E-mEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETRT

Other payables and accrued expenses HibEAFE R ERT R 141,722 138,468
Other tax payables HAupE(IHiE 10,176 7,347
Receipts in advance FEURFRIE 14,306 55,325
Dividends payable RS 142 133
166,346 201,273
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

31. Deferred tax 31. IREM IR
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the RESHBERARBEANEEHBEE (BE)KW
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements HERERSEBUOT :

during the year are as follows:

Losses

available

for

offsetting

Fairvalue  Allowance against

adjustment for Provision Unpaid future

Deferred  on business doubtful  Undistributed for social taxable
income  combination debt profits  warranties  securities profits Others Total

ek

EBAHH AXf EAEAE

ETHA  AVEEE  REEE  AARAE  REEE  MERE  EBNEE Afs 3t
RMB'0OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'0O0 ~ RMBO0  RMB'000 ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMB'0O0  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARRTn  ARRTR  ARWTR

At Jenuary 2014 o - - - (1017 - - - - o
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BHELR - (2.989) - - - - - - (2.989)
Credited to profit or loss REEFA 2,730 61 521 1,017 7839 5,229 - 399 17,802
At 31 December 2014 R-2-mE+-f=t-R 2,730 (2,928) 521 - 7839 5229 - 399 13,796
At 1 January 2015 WZE-1F-F-8 2,730 (2928 521 - 7839 5229 - 39 13,796
(Charged)/credited to proft or loss RER(IR) /A

(note 1) (Hfzk11) (409) 73 - - 3172 (33 3,550 (89) 6,864
At 31 December 2015 W_E2-RE+-A=1-R 2,321 (2,8%) 521 - 11,611 5,196 3,550 310 20,660
Deferred tax assets not recognised e R ERIEIE R IEE =
At 31 December 2015, the Group has not recognised deferred tax REZB—AF+ZA=+—H  KTEELERD 5
assets in respect of unused tax losses of RMB629,097,000 (31 AR REBNE QT ARG29,097,0005t (=
December 2014: RMB636,579,000) and RMB131,442,000 (31 Z-ME+=-A=+—H : AE%¥636,579,0007T)
December 2014: RMB180,789,000) attributable to its subsidiaries B ARY131,442,000t (=T —MF+ =B =+—
in the PRC and Hong Kong, respectively, and certain deductible A : AER%180,789,0007T) Ky FEAL R E) B IR RS
temporary differences of RMB299,456,000 (31 December 2014: K& T AT HDR & i = 58 A R #5299,456,0007T (=&
RMB313,062,000), as it is not probable that future taxable profits —MFE+=H=+—A : AR%2313,062,0007t)#
against which the losses or deductible temporary differences can be RIELEBIEEE  REAEBEREEEERER
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities. FRATRES B ARRERFAE A E AE B T

R o

The tax losses of the subsidiaries in the PRC will expire within five FEIME A RINBIEEER R B ERER ©
years.
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31 December 2015
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

31. Deferred tax (continued)

32

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2015, taxable temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC amounted to RMB9,570,000 (2014: RMB11,348,000).
No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of the
withholding tax that would be payable on distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that profits from these subsidiaries will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income

Various government grants have been received by the Group for
generating export sales, participating in high-tech industry and
constructing various manufacturing and photovoltaic power plants in
Jinzhou, Liaoning Province, and Xining, Qinghai Province, the PRC.

Those government grants related to assets are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially as deferred income and are
amortized to profit or loss as other income over the useful lives of
the assets.
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31.

32.

IEFEBIE ()

AR ERELETIEEE
R-ZZE—RF+-—A=+—0 HEEAEERPE
RIYMNETHEA AR KA EEENER T
BFEZEA ARYEQS70,000T (= —MEF : ARY
11,348,000t ) ° MEM D RZEREFEESH
BEHFERAEMELFEEE  RRERQFE
HIZEHMBEATNRERER  MECREZSWE
N EAA RARRDTRFEAAEE R K o

IESEW A

AEBEELHOHEE - #ESHRTERETE
EELRMNNS BRAERE S EEERE R LR
EILTMES TR N BT o

ZEREERBNBUTEMRINI R R P
RAEIEW A - WA E AE A FHRNME S A
BEAMUA -
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

33. &

33. Provisions

Provision for

inventory

Provision for purchase
warranties commitments Total
RARE FEBERERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT ARBFT
At 1 January 2014 R-E—WFE—HF—H 22,554 - 22,554
Provisions made FriERtfE 19,012 43,582 62,594
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—NF+=-A=+—H 41,566 43,582 85,148
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—HFE—HA—H 41,566 43,682 85,148
Provisions made PRt 20,321 - 20,321
Exchange adjustments EHFAR - 2,668 2,668
At 31 December 2015 R-Z—HF+=-A=+—H 61,887 46,250 108,137

The Group’s photovoltaic modules were typically sold with a 2 or
5-year warranty for defects in materials and workmanship and a 10-
year and 25-year minimum power output warranty, against declines
of more than 10% and 20%, respectively, of initial power generation
capacity from the date of delivery. The Group has the obligation to
repair or replace solar modules, under the terms of the warranty
policy. The Group maintains warranty reserves to cover potential
liabilities that could arise under these warranties.

A subsidiary of the Group has entered into a long-term supply
contract (“the Supply Contract”) with one of its suppliers in 2010.
According to the current terms of the Supply Contract, the
subsidiary shall need to pay a total of non-refundable advance
payments of US$34,500,000 and to purchase the agreed quantities
of polysilicon for the period from 2012 to 2020 with a total amount
of US$348,000,000.

AREE MK RA M SR —RHE B RSB
FHSFYRERRATIRA  URI10FK25F &K
REDBWHERFE  2RRFENHETRIEERS
LRSS BEER10%K20% © RIBFRABERE
;o AEEEERHABEAFETHEERER -
AEERERARBEABEZSRAETNEES
& o

AEE-—ENBAREEHERs —R_Z—F
FIILRAEESH(HESGHN]) - REMES
HNBEERR > ZMBLARAEAR=-Z—=-FZ
—E_ZHFHPRAXAFTEENEMREEH
34,500,000t > WHEEEETHENS & - A%
#348,000,0003 7T °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

33. Provisions (continued)

34

As at 31 December 2015, the subsidiary has made a non-
refundable prepayment of US$11,500,000 to the supplier, but it did
not purchase the agreed quantities from the supplier for 2012, 2013,
2014 and 2015 with amounts of US$18,375,250, US$13,200,000,
US$25,800,000 and US$42,000,000 respectively as stipulated
in the Supply Contract. As of the date of this report, the supplier
has issued invoices to the subsidiary for the above purchase
commitments for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2013, 2014
and 2015.

As of 31 December 2015, the subsidiary recognised a provision
for impairment of RMB74,676,000 (31 December 2014:
RMB70,369,000) (note 18) for the non-refundable prepayment and a
provision of RMB46,250,000 (31 December 2014: RMB43,582,000)
for the contingent losses from the Supply Contract. Currently,
the subsidiary’s management is in good faith negotiations with
the supplier regarding potential modifications of and/or revisions
to the terms of the long-term supply agreement. After taking into
consideration all the relevant factors, the directors of the Company
determined that it is not necessary to make any further provision
for the contingent losses from the Supply Contract during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Retirement benefit schemes

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government. The
Group’s PRC subsidiaries were required to make contributions to
the scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries per annum to fund
the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group is required to participate in defined contribution
retirement schemes administered and operated by Bureau of Labour
Insurance of Taiwan for employees employed in Taiwan. Under
the schemes the employer is required to make contributions to
the schemes at 6% of the employees’ relevant income per annum.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.
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33.

34.

B
RZBE—FE+-A=+—0 - &MBATEHE
B R RE AFB{TFRIE11,500,000% 7T © B3
BRBHESHITER-"ZS——F - _T—=F "
—E-MER-_E-AFEZMHEERERENE
£ 45 5l £%18,375,250% Jt * 13,200,000 Tt
25,800,000 3 Jt & 42,000,000 & T ° RARE B
B ZEEREH LB EREmZM B AR
BE-_Z——f -—Z-—=F —Z-—OFE=-F
—HEF+-A=+-—HILFENRZ-

R-ZBE-FRE+-A=+—-—H ZHEAFTC
RAATREMNEANRERRBREREARE
74,676,000t(ZFE—ME+=-—A=+—H ' AR
#£70,369,0007t) (MizE18) » W FEEES YK
RIGIBEREE AR %46,250,0007T (ZF—MF
+=—A=+—H : AK¥43,582,0007t) ° ZHK B
AFNEEREE A EEBEFH TRER R RE
I REABERRNGFTCETERERS - KEEME
HEEER  AAFESREBE_Z-—RE&1+=
A=+—BLFEBERHEESHNRABIETTR
1R i34 o

BRI E
AEETANE A AREASRm S THAEE
RERIERHFRAEASE - 22 E T EHH
ARAREEFHH20%MBEH LN BIES
BIERREES -

FEFARREREENEESSNHEES TRE
REERERNERMTRMKS - BRIFZZER
g BEXARESHEFERANCRE T EMEL
HEK o EETBUE R HRENRERE o



34.

35.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the
contributions described above.

Share capital

Authorised and issued share capital

34

35.

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H
(BRBEFHEIN - AARETIE)

. BARERE S @)
FEENCHBEEBREMEARSHAES  BE
SEBEREO I ERNESR T RN AESH
B((RESHE ) - BES BB REHIRA
B HBUSHARE - pESHARTEIRY
EE% A B{ESHEBR A #95% 1 5 BI4E 43
1045 B HERIK A 30,0005 705 IR » IS Sl
e R ED S SR o

B BRI AEEBARI RS REEN
RABFEEHMERSEE -

RN
EEREBTRA

2015 2014
—E-nf “E-|mEF
No. of No. of
shares shares '000
RAEE RIPEE T
Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEIBTNLER 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000  5,000,000,000 HK$500,000
7 7£500,000 #7500,000
Equivalent to HER RMB450,000 RMB450,000
AR #450,000 AR#450,000

Ordinary shares, issued and BRITRBREEER

fully paid:

At 1 January and 31 December R—A—-BR+=A=1+—-H 3,211,780,566 RMB276,727  3,211,780,566 RMB276,727
AE#216,727 AER#276,727
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31 December 2015
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R-ZE-—RF+-A=+—H

(REBEEBEN - UARKETIE)

36. Reserves

(1)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share
premium is distributable.

General reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the PRC, these PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer a
minimum of 10% of their distributable profits after taxation
based on their PRC statutory financial statements to the
general reserve fund until the balance of the fund is at least half
of the paid-in capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The amounts
allocated to this reserve are determined by the respective
boards of directors with reference to the minimum requirement.

For the entities concerned, the general reserve fund can be
converted into capital in proportion to the equity holders’
existing equity holdings, provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares allotted
and issued over the subscription costs and share options
granted to employees of the Group.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of Group
companies to presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.4.

Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents the differences between
considerations of acquisitions of equity interests from non-
controlling equity owners and carrying amount of proportionate
net assets.
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36. f#fH
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

37. Capital commitments 37. ERAIE
Capital commitments that relate to purchase of property, plant EEBEBEYY BMERRBER-ZE—HER=-F
and equipment outstanding at 31 December 2015 and 2014 not —OF+= B =+— B EAREE B REFHEREK
provided for in the financial statements are as follows: R ENERFAENT :
2015 2014
—B-EHF —B-mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ETF T
Contracted but not provided for BRTAERGHRRE 17,754 22,048
38. Operating lease commitments 38. KEHERE
At 31 December 2015 and 2014, the total future minimum lease R-ZE-—RFR-ZF-—NE+=A=+—H R
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as RS EHEE A CEEESNWRERAES
follows: FAARENT
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE-ImF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®T T
Within 1 year —FR 372 1,005
After 1 year but within 5 years —FZERFR 368 638
After 5 years HF%E 1,333 1,402
2,073 3,045
The Group is the lessee in respect to a number of properties held AEBBZIERBLSCLHESHITMENRBA ° %
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period EHE-ROLTEH_ET_1+5F  AIRERSHE
of two to twenty years, with an option to renew each lease upon EEREESE  EKRNEESEHER - 2%
expiry when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases include HESFAEBERRHES o

contingent rentals.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

39. Contingent liabilities 39. ZAREE
At 31 December 2015, the Group has undertaken to guarantee R-Z—RHF+=A=+—H FEEERE—E
a bank loan to an associate to the extent of RMB37,000,000 (31 By —EBEQARNRITERNER  UARY
December 2014: RMB74,000,000). As most of the loan balances 37,000,000t AR (ZFE—WFE+=—A=+—H :
are secured by the fixed assets of the associate, the directors AK#74,000,0007T) - HRARIBA EREERITH
consider fair value of the above financial guarantee is insignificant. ZHMERNRNEEEEFRST  BHESRA LM

MERRNO DA FEILFERK

The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made EERHABRBELAER  FXEBRAARIELE
against the Group under the above guarantee. The maximum liability B AEBABREHBAEAS LME FHER
of the Group at the end of the reporting period under the above HNEBERZARITRANTFHEATNERNAEES
guarantee issued is the outstanding amount of the loan advanced FEARME37,000,000t (Z2—WE+=ZF=+—
by the bank to the associate of RMB37,000,000 (31 December B : AR¥74,000,0007T) °

2014: RMB74,000,000).

40. Related party transactions 40. BEFR S
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in MRETISHRREMIL D I BOR S RERI - KE
the financial statements, the Group had the following material related EENTEABEEFRS :

party transactions:

(@ Key management personnel remuneration @ EEEIEASFM
Key management personnel receive compensation in the form FTEEBABUGFE FEREMER - B
of salaries, housing and other allowances, benefits in kind, YA - BIBETEALR RN ARG XK
discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions. Bie - TEEEASFHMFRRHEIRE
Details of key management personnel remuneration are E o HMNAEBAIETIRA]  FIERAMEE
disclosed in notes 9. Total remuneration is included in “staff 7@ E

costs” as disclosed in note 7(a).
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40. Related party transactions (continued) 40. BEEA RS )
(o) Transactions with associates and entities controlled (b) HEBEANRRAQNTNESHEFINE
by directors of the Company EZFeﬁ X5
2015 2014
—E-RfF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Sales of goods to: HEEMT !
the associates of the Group INEE B HhE 11,214 26,030
the entities controlled by the directors VNN ﬂ§$§fc§$ﬁ’9ﬁ%ﬁ
of the Company or close members FrEEHINERR
of director’s family 325 342
11,539 26,372
Purchases of goods and services from: BTHEFBEEmRRE
the associates of the Group AEBEBEE AT 13,934 1,592
the entities controlled by the directors RATESHEZNER
of the Company or close members Fri IR B8 (FEE(i)
of director’s family (note (ii)) 9,915 26,466
23,849 28,058
Notes: PHEE
() In the opinion of the directors, the transactions between the () EBRAH AEEEBRELZENXZERE
Group and the related parties were conducted in the ordinary —BRRBEEBBEPIREEEEGRRE
and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms, 17 EEGRRIDIZRBERNTSED o
the pricing terms were at the prevailing market prices.
(i)  Amount included service fee for water and heat services of (i) ZREFEAARAEBRBORBEARE
RMB909,000 (2014: RMB1,137,000). 909,000t (= ZF— M4 : AK#¥1,137,000

JT) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)
40. Related party transactions (continued) 40. BEARZ @)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties () EEEIER 2R RERER
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Trade and bills receivables: ERE SRR R
the associates of the Group REEBE DT 27,715 33,090
27,715 33,090
Prepayment and other receivables: FETRRE R E AR RIE
the associates of the Group REEHE QT = 4,561
the entities controlled by the directors of AABEEREEMNIAR
the Company or close members of Pt &L
directors’ family 3,045 3,045
3,045 7,606
Trade payables: BENEZRM :
the associates of the Group AEEHE AT 296 296
the entities controlled by the directors of RABESHEENIAS
the Company or close members of FriEslfEeE
directors’ family 39,820 39,764
40,116 40,060

Note:

The above balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand. Trade receivables from and trade payables to related
parties are repayable or settled on the respective credit terms.

(d) Guarantees given to banks for loans of the Group’s
associates
As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, guarantees
of RMB37,000,000 and RMB74,000,000 were given to banks
for loans of the Group’s associates, respectively.

The related party transactions in respect of items (b) above also
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

BEBEEIWMBETA
RESHEAER  SEUBTANEDENT :

41. Financial instruments by category 41.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015 —E-AHF

MBEE

Financial assets

Available-for-

Loans and sale financial
receivables assets Total
ERRERRE AHLERKEE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥ T AR¥T R
Available-for-sale investments At HEMBERE - 123,942 123,942
Trade and bills receivables EWEZERREE 578,936 - 578,936
Financial assets included in SFATEAFIE - e R HEAM
prepayments, deposits and EWRFIBNEIISERE
other receivables 51,533 - 51,533
Pledged deposits [REE iR 459,171 - 459,171
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEEY 193,953 - 193,953
1,283,593 123,942 1,407,535
Financial liabilities MKas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LA 88 A A
SRR BT B & et
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Trade and bills payables ERESERARER 799,248 799,248
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAHMEMNRERESFEIZN
and accruals (note 30) B % & & (MTEE30) 82,489 82,489
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STERITREMEE 2,279,993 2,279,993
3,161,730 3,161,730
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

(BRABEBEIN

AR E)

M. RERESNVMET A
REBEHBEER  SEMETANERENT :

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (#&)
(continued)
2014 —E—F
Financial assets B EE
Available-for-
Loans and sale financial
receivables assets Total
EXRREWFE THEEMKEEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Trade and bills receivables =9 282,427 - 282,427
Financial assets included in SFATEAFIE - BEREA
prepayments, deposits and WG ENEIEEE
other receivables 243,384 - 243,384
Pledged deposits 145,710 - 145,710
Cash and cash equivalents HERIASZEEY 195,257 - 195,257
866,778 - 866,778
Financial liabilities Mg aE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LA SH A S
SRR K EE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF T AREETT
Trade and bills payables ENEZERAREE 806,478 806,478
Financial liabilities included in other payables HAHMEAZRERESEEY
and accruals (note 30) Brig & & (MEE30) 79,899 79,899
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STEBRITREMESE 1,806,060 1,806,060
2,692,437 2,692,437
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of

financial instruments

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and short-term deposits, restricted cash,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and the
current-portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
on with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
carrying amount of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings are reasonably approximate to fair values.

The fair values of bank financial products are derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The fair values
of the investment in bank financial products have been calculated
based on the principal and the yield rates quoted from investment
bank managers in accordance with discounted cash flow analysis as
at the reporting date.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: Fair value measured based on quoted (unadjusted) prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the fair
value are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 8: Fair value measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the fair
value are unobservable.

2. B TANAFERQIFERER

BREEREENATENRERIATEAMEES
ETHEMNR S CRASEFHERIN) A RIAE
BN o AU A PENTERBRUT ¢

RERERER - ZRFBE - SFARNTR - &
ERAMEBWRENGEEE - BRESHRARE
B BANESERIRER  sFARMGRATUERE
RN AEURGRRTEENRBIH M
NHERAREERS T2REAZETAEIRN
R

FTRRTEENIERB IO N FETIRBIER -
FERBRATZHHELUN T AR ARSHF
RPRFAHRRRERENTAFE - SHERITE
BEFRBMOHRMELEQNFESERLD

ROEMERNATENREEEREBUEER
BERBE TS0 A RS (5 —RA BB HRER
o) REBITEHMEMN DI FENEBREAERR
ERTAEAHROKER - RIBRME B AR
RERBOWEE ©

AEEFRAUTEREERBEEMBEIANA T
B :

B APENIRBEBEESEENERT
SHVRE CRAERAR)E -

B ATEDREGERGNE  BRaY
ATEAEAFENBAREYTHE
SREBREE -

B=: DFELRBGEERMTE - BEAH
DNFEEEAZEN ARSI TE

o

i
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of

financial instruments (continueq)

42 BRI ENAFERAFEEBR @

The following table illustrates how the fair values of the Group’s
financial products are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.

TREBIAEESAEESRHERMN D FELE
RAANMGERMREBABE) - ARMDARRA
FEFTENBARBTEEEESS N FPETEN
DNFEBR(E-—ZE=4) -

Significant Sensitivity of
Fair value Valuation unobservable fair value
hierarchy techniques inputs Range of the input
ERNT B BWABEH
DNFEER fE{E R WA i DNFEBRE
Available-for-sale Level 3 Discount cash Expected rate 4.9%-5.5% 5% increase (decrease) in
investments flow method of return expected rate of return
would result in increase
(decrease) in fair value
by RMB306,000
(RMB306,000)
AHERE E=ZR BERSREL BHEERER FEHAERE A (T FE)5%
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42, Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 42 BBRTENLAFER AT EREFK @
financial instruments (continued)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TREAAEENVEIAENAFLETEEBHR

Fair value measurement using
EAUTSENAFETE

Quoted
price in Significant Significant

of the Group’s financial instruments:

active  observable unobservable
markets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EBmE EANTEHER PN R
BE WABE BREARE
(B—%) (=% (B=#) a&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R ARET T ARETT

Assets measured at fair value: BAVEGTENEE
At 31 December 2015 A—E—RF
+=B=t-A
Financial products SRER - - 123,942 123,942
At 31 December 2014 NoE—E
+=A=+—-8
Financial products SRIEmM - - - -
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no transfers BE-Z-AF+T-A=+—HLEE  HEEE
of fair value measurements among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for HEE—4% » B RE=RAFEFE BN EE
financial assets (2014: Nil). AR (ZT—MF : &) -

43. Financial risk management objectives and  43. B EMREE B P RBEK

policies

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to AEEEEESNEEENARERBKTIEEE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, mRREEEARERESERAERSHME  FEIRE
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and AEEREFEEE  HEARRIBHERERSH A
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services EHEBE AT RAE -

commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.
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43. Financial risk management objectives and  43. BB EMREE B W R BE @)

policies (continued)

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks
and trade and bills and other receivables. Cash at banks are
placed with financial institutions that have sound credit ratings
and the Group considers the credit risk to be insignificant.

In respect of trade and bills receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors on a case-by-case
basis. These evaluations focus on the debtors’ past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the debtor as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the debtor
operates. Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 90
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from debtors.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each debtor. The default risk
of the industry and country in which debtor operates also has
an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 14% (2014: 21%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer, and 57% (2014
61%) was due from the five largest customers of the Group.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in note 39, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in
note 39.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables
are set out in note 23.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

43. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

As detailed in note 2.1, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by RMB395,314,000 as at 31 December
2015. The liquidity of the Group is primarily depending on
its ability to maintain adequate cash flows from operations,
to renew its short-term bank loans and to obtain adequate
external financing to support its working capital and meet
its obligations and commitments when they become due.
Management is taking certain actions to address these
conditions in accordance with the Group’s policy of regularly
monitoring its current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. These actions include negotiating with banks to
renew the short term loans and to explore the availability of
alternative sources of financing. Further details of these actions
and bank loans concerned are set out in note 2.1.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H
(BRBEFHEIN - AARETIE)

43. I EKREE RN REBE @)

(b)

REE Rk

B2 1 s AEER =S —HF+=
B=+t-HEWRBEERAHRHEEAR
#5395,314,0007T c NEBREE S FEMRE
HINREPHRENEEBERSRE  SEL
RHBRTERREGHEG I IMEAZIEH
EEESRNIBSEITHEERAENRE
o REBEASEEERERLEHMNFELR
BESHWERNEBCR  SEBCHRZSERK
BETTE  URREESZHRESHER
BEALREBREXTEAEEERE U
ERfREHNABESER - ZZTHEE
BRITETREAUAETTEHERRFAREAM
BERE - ZETHRBITERNE—DF
TEEFAKIEE2.1 ©

TREIAEEPBEENREHNEEER
BT ENER  BRBBEETIURFR
SHRRERE (BERBEQNNRF(MAZ
BOREHREPHEEH B ERRXRFEHFE
R URAREERERNKRE BHERSE
B o
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

43. Financial risk management objectives and  43. BB EMREE B W R BE @)
policies (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b)) "BEESERE@)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
FBENRERIE

More than More than
Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but

amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total on demand PATCE) 5years 5years
Wt+=H
=t-Af —Fhg BR-F BBAME
REE g BERAR BYRWE BOREE BRLE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T

Short-term bank and other loans ERRTRAMER 1,931,849 (1,996,236) (1,996,236 = = =
Long-term bank and other loans RESTREMER 348,144 (463,265) (14,107) (214,700) (81,693) (152,765)
Trade and other payables EHE SRR
58 881,737 (881,737) (881,737) - = -
Financial guarantee to associate RFHERANIBER = (87,000) (37,000) - - -
3,161,730 (3,378,238) (2,929,080) (214,700) (81,693) (152,765)
2014
—3-|E
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AREHRERE
More than More than
Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but
amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
Rt=A
=t-8H —ER BRA-F BEAME
BEE a5 HERAR BAWWE BAOWEE BBREE

RVB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETT N e N e N e

Short-term hank and other loans RERTREMER 1,420,188 (1,506,015) (1,506,019) - - -

Long-term bank and other oans EHRARANER 385,872 (513544) (25419 184517) (219.465) (184,149)
Trade and other payables ENBARARE

EATE 886,377 (886,377) (886,377) - - -

Financial guarantee to assoclate RTBELANEBER - (74,000) (74,000) - - -

2,692,437 (2,979,936) (2,491,809) (84,517) (219,465) (184,149)
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31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

policies (continued)

(©

Interest rate risk (©

Except for bank deposits and RMB wealth management
products with stable interest rates, the Group has no other
significant interest bearing assets. Accordingly, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. Details of the effective
interest rates for bank deposits and RMB wealth management
products are disclosed in notes 26 and 25. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk,
respectively. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of

43. I EKREE RN REBE @)

F) 2R [ g
REEANZNETERARARKENER
S AREBUEBEMEAGTEEE - Bt
AEENBRARKLLEREREAREFZEH
SHNRBETE - GRARTEARAREE
MEREBRAENFBRMT26R25H I
B ASENFZAKRTIEREESE - FE
REEEEFEAEBARAERSRFER
ek AFEFRRRE - AREBELEFERATE
B3 T AR EFIRER -

0 FEER
TRAVNAEERBEHBEERAEE

the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the reporting TREERRRIRAR, 0
period.
2015 2014
—2-hfF —E2-mF
Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 interest rate RMB’000
BRAE AR¥T T BRA= ARBT R
% %
Variable rate borrowings ZEEE
Short-term bank loans SHRITER 2.47 521,398 6.35 325,952
Long-term bank and REBRITRHEHMER
other loans 6.79 347,000 6.81 384,000
868,398 709,952
Fixed rate borrowings  EEEH
Short-term bank loans ZHRRITER 7.01 1,410,451 6.32 1,094,236
Long-term bank and RESRTREMER
other loans 3.30 1,144 3.30 1,872
1,411,565 1,096,108
Total borrowings BEAE 2,279,993 1,806,060
Fixed rate borrowings EEEEGEE
as a percentage of HWENE O
total borrowings 61.9% 60.7%
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43. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

43. I EKREER N REE @

() Interest rate risk (continued) ) FIZ=mEpE)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRI
The Group
rEE
2015 2014
—E-—HEF —E—FE
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) in profit/(loss) Effect on (decrease) in profit/(loss) Effect on
interest rate for the year equity interest rate for the year equity
MEEH HEERB HiESHN F=EEFH, HEERBE B
(T &) (BR)NEE 2 (T&) (B MEE £
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TR ARBTT ARBTT
1 (8,169) (8,169) 1 (6,950) (6,950)
(1) 8,169 8,169 (1) 6,950 6,950
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous DLEBBESETR  BEMNEREFHH
change in the Group’s profit/(loss) for the year and equity SEHEEAERRE - WIERREHE
that would have arisen assuming that the change in FARE X FEMNEH T BFAERNRIR
interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting B AKEBEENE(FHiE) RE
period and had been applied to the exposure to interest HHEEEEE c —FE—-NENDFTE L
rate risk for the financial instruments in existence at that HERNEEEST o
date. The analysis has been performed on the same
basis for 2014.
(d) Currency risk (d) ZMEE e B

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, bank loans and cash and bank deposits that
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily the United States Dollar, Euros, the Hong Kong Dollar,
the Japanese Yen and the Chinese Yuan. Management does
not expect any significant impact from movements in exchange
rates since the Group uses the foreign currencies collected
from customers to settle the amounts due to suppliers.
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31 December 2015 R=ZT—hA4%+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

43. Financial risk management objectives and  43. B B EMREE B R BE @)
policies (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (@) SMNERBS ()
() Exposure to currency risk ) SMNEEEE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRFVIAREENRREHEEE BRIE
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising HISNEE LB - SN R R (H LAAHRE E BE Th
from recognised assets or liabilities in the consolidated REEM NG ENE NGRS MR
statement of financial position (after elimination of ER (H0BR A =) R FE R I8 & B 7R IE
intercompany receivables and payables) denominated in BIBIANEEREEMEL -

a currency other than the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)
HEBB(AARKSIE)

2015 2014

2-1f “E-mE

United Hong United Hong
State Kong  Japanese  Chinese States Kong  Japanese Chinese
Dollars Euros Dollars Yens Yuans Dollars Euros Dollars Yens Yuans
£ B BT HE HET i b BT RE PET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 [ailaX0/ 0N 1= o[0T N o117 = X0/ 11400 RV 0]
ARMTT ARETR ARMTR ARETE ARETT BTN AN awPN: L S O AN:: &

Trade and other receivables EXERZERR

EfbRWFIE 2,654 5,080 - - - 7 5,487 - - -

Cash at bank and in hand BORFERS 2,644 280 180 - 359 42 292 2,362 162 425

Bank and other loans RORHMER  (578,087) - = - (1200000  (589,236) - - - (120000)
Trade and other payables ENEZBRRR

HbEMNFE 32 (290) (392) (1,337) - ) (2,004) (369) (2,847) -

(572,821) 5,070 (212 (1,337)  (119,641) (589,258 3,685 1,993 (2,685 (119,579)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

43. Financial risk management objectives and  43. BB EMREE B W R BE @)
policies (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) SMNERPBS ()
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRI
The following table indicates the instantaneous change TRETAEERRBREHAEEE BE
in the Group’s profit/(loss) for the year and accumulated EEARBWERARELRSESE
losses in equity in response to reasonably possible MBAEEFERNE (2 REZR
changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the TEEE IR ENEEE o
Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period.
2015 2014
—2-1f —E-NF
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease)  Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in foreign profit/ in foreign profit/
exchange (loss) for Effect on exchange (loss) for Effect on
rates the year equity rates the year equity
HEE HEE
Exth/ @/ (FR) bl EXEH FIE/(5R) HRERN
(T%) (% %8 (T3%) VgE 7
RMB’000  RMB’000 % RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TrR AREFT  ARETR
United States Dollars EYH 10 (45,442) (45,442) 10 (45,988) (45,988)
(10) 45,442 45,442 (10) 45,988 45,988
Euros BT 10 510 510 10 372 372
(10) (510) (510) (10) 872 872
Hong Kong Dollars B 10 (1) (21) 10 199 199
(10) 21 21 (10) (199) (199)
Japanese Yens HE 10 (134) (134) 10 (269) (269)
(10) 134 134 (10) 269 269
Chinese Yuans HET 10 (11,964) (11,964) 10 (11,958) (11,958)
(10) 11,964 11,964 (10) 11,958 11,958

164 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED g %A RIEIR AR A F



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements B #& R 3= Mt s+

31 December 2015 R-ZE—R&E+-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (BrBAERESIN - AAREEFIE)

43. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(d)

(€

Currency risk (continued)

(ir)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments (excluding intercompany
receivables and payables which are eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements) held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis excludes
differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of Group companies into the
presentation currency. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis for 2014.

Capital management

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing ratio
as total borrowings to total share capital and reserves.

43. I EKREE RN REBE @)

©)

SMEE LB ()

(i)  BREEDH(E)
BRESMDBRRERAGTHEZZH
ENGEAEEEESERBSH
BEE R AENERBNZENBTA
(TEEFEUBHRERPIEHN A AI[
BYRERENKIER) - 2 AN BEE
SEAAUBRROERERERE
EMERE - —F-MEMNH TR UERE
HYELEERELT o

EEHE
FEEBEEENRNNEERELREE £
SREEKFAAETRESRREE » UK
REERRTAARENESNRERE S E
WEFE  YREEEERESEMARES
B

REBUEESBLREFHEARLE - 5
s FAEESEESBLERERREE
BENEHRRAR FEAL =R -
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31 December 2015 R-—ZT—RF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAFEAESN - AARETIE)

43. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as

43. I EKREER N REE @

€ BLEHE@)
R-B-AER-B-NE+=A=+-A

follows: HWEEEBLLZRMT :
2015 2014
—E-AfF —E—NFE
note RMB’000 RMB’000
FisE ARET T ARET T
Current liabilities: REIEE:
Bank loans RITER 28 1,931,849 1,420,188
1,931,849 1,420,188
Non-current liabilities: FREBEE
Bank and other loans IRITREMER 28 348,144 385,872
348,144 385,872
Total borrowings HEH#EE 2,279,993 1,806,060
Share capital R 276,727 276,727
Reserves #1E 794,013 819,356
1,070,740 1,096,083
Gearing ratio EEAELER 212.9% 164.8%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

44. Events after the reporting period

No significant events after the reporting period are noted.

45. Comparative amounts

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to
the implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) during the current year, the presentation and disclosures of
certain items and balances in the financial statements have been
revised to comply with the new requirements. Accordingly, certain
comparative amounts have been restated to conform with the
current year’s presentation and disclosures.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2AFEEEIN - IAARESIE)

46. Statement of financial position of the 46. A" A Al B AR R R
Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company RIEEEE AR DR HEMRRRNVEROT ¢

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2015 2014
—B-REF —2-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITBARKIRE 1,357,852 1,245,001

Current assets REVEE
Other receivables Hth U IE - 15,691
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFEES 515 448
515 16,139
Current liabilities RBAE

Other payables HAih IS 1,281 7,196
1,281 7,196
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(AE) BEFHE (766) 8,943
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERRDAR 1,357,086 1,253,944
Net assets BEFE 1,357,086 1,253,944

Capital and reserves EAXRFEE
Share capital IR 276,727 276,727
Reserves (note) EACIGIES) 1,080,359 977,217
Total equity RS 1,357,086 1,253,944
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46. Statement of financial position of the 46. AN B B AR R 3R ()
Company (continued)
Note: MiEE :
Share Exchange Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
R HE R RitEE ERBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTR ARETT ARETT

Balance at 1 January 2014 R-BE-—NE—-F—BNEE 1,731,645 (170,654) (585,289) 975,702
Changes in equity for 2014: “E-NFHNERSE

Loss for the year FEBE - - (4,135) (4,135)
Other comprehensive income Hp2EUWRA - 5,650 - 5,650
Total comprehensive income 2HU AR - 5,650 (4,135) 1,515

Balance at 31 December 2014 and R-—ZB-—MNE+=-A=+—AH

1 January 2015 R-—Z-HF-A—HWER 1,731,645 (165,004) (589,424) 977,217
Changes in equity for 2015: “E-IFHERSE
Loss for the year FEER - - (867) (867)
Other comprehensive income Htt2mEBRA - 104,009 - 104,009
Total comprehensive income 2HEBALEEE - 104,009 (867) 103,142
Balance at 31 December 2015 A—E—FHF+=B=+—H

KA ER 1,731,645 (60,995) (590,291) 1,080,359
47. Approval of the financial statements 47. #EM KR T

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by EERER T A"F=ZA -t =HENEFTE
the board of directors on 23 March 2016. H ISR o
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